EEOT v. Sidley Austin Brown. Doc. 20
- Case 1:05-cv-00208 Document 20 Filed 05/24/20056??2 1of 101

IN THE UNITED STATE DISTRICT COURT E B

I
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS a2y
EASTERN DIVISION B Okag, 2005 /’o
+ 44, uy:‘,
UNITED STATES EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 8, Mrmg:'ﬂvs

OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION, No. 05¢ 0208

)
)
)
Plaintiff, } Honorable James B. Zagel
)
v, } Magistrate Martin C. Ashman
)
SIDLEY AUSTIN BROWN & WOOD LLP, }
)
)

Defendant.

DEFENDANT’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF
ITS MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT

687514

Dockets.Justia.com


http://dockets.justia.com/docket/court-ilndce/case_no-1:2005cv00208/case_id-153017/
http://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/illinois/ilndce/1:2005cv00208/153017/20/
http://dockets.justia.com/

Case 1:05-cv-00208 Document 20  Filed 05/24/2005 Page 2 of 101

TABLE OF CONTENTS
INTRODUCGTION L.ttt ettt ettt a st eas b nee ]
ARGUMENT L et ea ettt ee et et sae et 2

I The EEOC Concedes That North Gibson Derives From An Established Line Of
Cases. The Ongoing Validity Of Which Cannot Be Questioned, Which Are Based

On The ADEA’s “Distinctive Enforcement Scheme”.............cocoevviveeiiceciceeceeeeec 2
1L The Three Arguments The EEOC Advances To Criticize The Reasoning Of North
Gibson And Confine Its Application Are Demonstrably Wrong........ccococcovviveicvciceecne. 4
A Beginning A “Directed Investigation” With A Letter Inquiring Into Facts
Does Not Meet North Gibson’s Charge-Filing Requirement; Indeed, The
Phrase “Directed Investigation™ Has No Legal Significance ...........ccccoveiiiinienninn, 4

B. The 1996 Johnson & Higgins (“J&H") Opinion, Which The Seventh Circuit
For Good Reason Ignored In 2001 In Deciding North Gibson, Cannot And
Does Not Provide Reason To Disregard North Gibson..........cooceeevcieiiieiicineeecnc.n. 7

C. FLSA Cases, Far From Undermining North Gibson, Have Given Rise To A
Parallel Analysis Which Reinforces North Gibson And Provides An
Alternative Ground To Dismiss Prayer For Relief C.....oooooovviiiiiiieie 9

1. North Gibson Not Only Survives, But Is Ratified By, The Opinion In Waffle House ......12
IV, BOR Provides No Reason To Ignore North Gibson ..............cccccoiveioinincsioncicnieiecece 13

CONCLUSION Lttt eb b s et ettt ra e e 14

687544



Case 1:05-cv-00208 Document 20  Filed 05/24/2005 Page 3 of 101

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
Cases
Circuit City Stores, Inc. v. EEOC, 75 F. Supp. 2d 491,497 (E.D. Va. 1999) .....ocoovioeviieei, 5
DelColstell v. International Brotherhood of Teamsters, 462 U.S. 151, 158 (1983).....ccccvinnnnee. 10
EEOC v. Harris Chernin, Inc., 10 F.3d 1286 (Tth Cir. 1993) ovoviveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e passim
EEOC v Johnson & Higgins, Inc., 91 F.3d 1529 (2d Cir. 1996) ..o 1,7, 8

EEQC v. North Gibson School Corp., 2000 WL 33309722, *8 (S.D. Ind. June 21, 2000)... passim

EEQC v, North Gibson School Corp.. 266 F.3d 607 (Tth Cir. 2001) co..ocoeveccviieiiiiieie passim
EEQC v. Peat. Marwick, Mitchell & Co., 589 F. Supp. 534, 536 (E.D. Mo. 1984)........ccocveue..... 5
EEQC v US Steel Corp., 921 F.2d 489 (3d Cir. 1990} ......ccooiviviiiniiiiiiiiiiee e 2,14
EEQC v. Waffle House, Inc., 334 US. 279 (2002) .........ccooovvveiiieeciieeiieeeeiees e, passim
Rossiter v. Potter, 357 F.3d 26 (1st Cir. 2004) ..o, 10,11, 12
Vines v. University of Louisiana at Monroe, 398 F.3d 700 (5th Cir. 2005) ......ccoooovvveeeeenn. 14
Statutes

2OULSIC § 2I0. e et ettt 8.9
2O S 0. § 2T et e b et sb ettt erenis 8.9
20 S, G 2D e st et r e ettt eaees 9,10
2O ULSIC §026. e et b st en 7,9
ZOCF R G I020.. ittt e 5

Other Authorities

H.R. REP. No. 102-40(1). p. 96 (1991t 12

i
ARSI



Case 1:05-cv-00208 Document 20  Filed 05/24/2005 Page 4 of 101

INTRODUCTION

The EEOC’s brief (“EEOC Br.”) largely fails to address the three arguments set
forth in Sidley’s Opening Brief (“Op. Br.”): (1) that North Gibson derives logically from an
established line of cases based on the distinctive enforcement scheme of the ADEA; (II) that
Waffle House did not overrule North Gibson and indeed reaffirmed the line of cases on which it
rests; and (II1) that BOR is consistent with North Gibson. Indeed, the EEQOC’s own brief in BOR
concedes that BOR is consistent with North Gibson because, in the words of the EEOC, North
Gibson “limits the Commisston to a claim for injunctive relief in cases in which the charging
party . . . has disqualified himself from recovering monetary damages.” (See below, pp. 13-14.)

Instead, the EEOC in effect makes three arguments, related to each other but
unrelated to Waffle House and BOR, attacking the wisdom of North Gibson and trying to confine
its impact to a vanishing point. The three arguments are: (A) North Gibson requires a “charge”
to be filed within 300 days. The EEOC now claims a single letter of inquiry, which the EEQC
calls a “directed investigation,” should be deemed a “charge.” This argument has no basis in the
ADLA or case law and is contradicted by the EEOC’s regulations on what constitutes a
“charge.” (B) The EEOC claims that EEOC v. Johnson & Higgins, Inc., 91 F.3d 1529 (2d Cir.
1996) (“J&H"), an opinion which the district court in North Gibson declined to follow and which
the Seventh Circuit in affirming North Gibson ignored, somehow undermines North Gibson.
This argument cannot in principle be correct and in any event is based on a misreading of both
cases. (C) The EEOC seeks “the same right” to sue as the Department of Labor has under the
FLSA. This argument, when fully analyzed, actually provides an added reason to grant the

present motion and confirms the wisdom of North Gibson.
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ARGUMENT

L. The EEOC Concedes That North Gibson Derives From An Established Line Of
Cases, The Ongoing Validity Of Which Cannot Be Questioned, Which Are Based
On The ADEA’s “Distinctive Enforcement Scheme.”

The EEOC concedes by complete silence that the ADEA has a “distinctive
enforcement scheme”; that the rationale of North Gibson is based on that scheme (Op. Br. 5-9);
that L'S. Steel, based on a similar rationale, was reaffirmed by Waffle House and thus is plainly
still good law; and that the Seventh Circuit opinion in Harris Chernin so completely parallels
LS. Steel in analysis and result that, if one is good law, the other must also be (Op. Br. 9-11).
The EEOC tries 1o minmimize the significance of U.S. Steel and Harris Chernin by calling them
“res judicata” cases (EEOC Br. 11-12), but such labeling does not undermine Sidley’s
substantive points.

The EEOC challenges only one step in Sidley’s reasoning and does so by
misreading North Gibson. Sidley argued that North Gibson inevitably follows from Harris
Chernin and thus. given the line of cases on which it was based, North Gibson was unaffected by
the Waffle House decision. (Op. Br. 10-12.) The entire EEOC challenge to this proposition is
contained in a single paragraph (EEOC Br. 8, first paragraph). However, that paragraph’s
reasoning resls on two misconceptions stated in its first sentence — that North Gibson involved
employees who filed charges and who then sued. The EEOC claims that, in the suit it believes
occurred, “the court deemed [the charges] untimely.” In fact, in North Gibson, five of the seven
individuals filed no charge and none sued. Since there was no court decision (there having been
no suit), North Gibson cannot be labeled a “res judicata™ case.

The Sidley analysis of North Gibson which was ignored by the EEOC grew out of
the very facts the EEOC gets wrong — that the individuals did not file charges and did not sue.
(Op. Br. 10-12)) In effect, then, the only “dispute” is which side misread North Gibson. To

S
6875404



Case 1:05-cv-00208 Document 20  Filed 05/24/2005 Page 6 of 101

decide this “dispute,” the Court need only read the relevant language from the decision (266 F.3d
at 616-17):

“If any of the individuals [for whom the EEOC sought individual relief]
had attempted to bring suit in the district court based on [two] untimely or
(five] nonexistent charges, the claim would have been dismissed by the

district court . . . Af that point, the seven [two untimely, five nonexistent
charges] would be in the same position as the employee in Harris
Chernin.™

This reading of Norrh Gibson alone warrants granting Sidley’s motion.

Sidley also argued (Op. Br. 12-15), alternatively but also cumulatively, that
powerful reasons of public policy and legislative intent undergird the result in North Gibson.
The EEOC relegates its response to two footnotes (EEOC Br. 7, n.4 and 11, n.7). Footnote 4
admits that the EEOC is not responding to Sidley’s public policy and legislative intent arguments
and gives as the reason that the EEOC does not want to “burden the Court” with an “unnecessary
discussion” of Defendant’s “back to 1978 rhetorical flourishes.” The phrase “rhetorical flourish”
attempts to minimize the warning that, absent North Gibson, the EEOC could attempt to revive
stale claims dating back to 1978, exactly as it is doing in paragraph 6(A) of the instant
Complaint: ~In maintaining and implementing, since at least 1978, an age-based retirement
policy. Defendant Employer has discriminated against a class . . . [which] includes Defendant
Emplover’s attorney employees age 40 and older who were adversely affected by the retirement
policy.”

Because the EEOC fails to disclaim that this is what it’s doing here, or disclaim
the authority or intent to do so in other cases, we are dealing with a fact not a flourish and a quite

important fact at that: Unless restrained, the EEOC will continue in this and other cases (such as

As in our Opening Brief, all emphasis and brackets are added unless stated otherwise.

-3-
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Judge Leinenweber’s Copello case) to try to litigate claims back to 1978, a constantly elongating
period.

The “burden the Court” reason for not addressing public policy or Congressional
intent is not persuasive given that the EEOC is asking this Court to ignore two unanimous
Seventh Circuit precedents. If the EEOC had anything to say, surely it would have said it here
(and in Coppello, where, to use Judge Leinenweber’s phrase, it cited no “compelling authority”
on those issues). Relegating its discussion to footnotes does not make public policy and
Congressional intent unimportant when the EEOC is asking the Court to reject Seventh Circuit
precedent expressly based on public policy and Congressional intent.

I1. The Three Arguments The EEOC Advances To Criticize The Reasoning Of North
Gibson And Confine Its Application Are Demonstrably Wrong.

The EEOC spends most of its brief advancing three arguments attacking North
Gibson and trying to confine it to extremely narrow application: (A) the EEOC claims North
Gibson should not appty when the EEOC had, within 300 days of the challenged conduct,
initiated a “directed investigation” into such conduct by sending a letter of inquiry; (B) the
EEOC claims the 1996 J& H decision allowed otherwise untimely individual relief because it
held a ““directed investigation™ equivalent to a “charge™; and (C) the EEQOC thinks the ADEA’s
incorporation of certain FLSA sections should be construed to grant the EEOC unlimited
authority to pursue individual relief. These arguments are demonstrably wrong and in all events
are asking the Court to overrule North Gibson.

A. Beginning A “Directed Investigation” With A Letter Inquiring Into

Facts Does Not Meet North Gibson’s Charge-Filing Requirement;
indeed, The Phrase “Directed Investigation” Has No Legal Significance.

North Gibson requires a “charge” to be filed within 300 days to preserve

individual remedies. The EEOC suggests that it did the equivalent of “filing” a “charge” by a

-4 -
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single letter of inquiry which began what the EEOC calls a “directed investigation.” (See EEOC
Br. 18.n.12.) The EEOC does not define or explain “directed investigation,” a term appearing
nowhere in the text of the ADEA or in the federal regulations promulgated by the EEOC. Sidley
computer-searched all employment cases decided over the past 40 years (easily thousands of
cases) and found only two judges who used the phrase “directed investigation,” both in passing,
neither giving the phrase any significance. Circuit City Stores, Inc. v. EEOC, 75 F. Supp. 2d
491. 497 (E.D. Va. 1999); EEOC v. Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co., 589 F. Supp. 534, 536 (E.D.
Mo. 1984).

No case, regulation, or statute even remotely suggests that a “directed
investigation™ is equivalent to a “charge,” which is a term of art, defined and explained in detail
by EEQC regulations. 29 C.F.R. § 1626. Thus, the FEOC regulations state in Section 1626.5
that a charge “sAall be in writing and . . . shall generally allege the discriminatory act(s).” The
EEQOC regulations further state in Section 1626.8 that a charge must contain: “A clear and
concise statement of the facts, including pertinent dates, constituting the alleged unlawful
emplovment practices.” The EEOC regulations require in Section 1626.11 that “the
Commission shall promptly notify the respondent that a charge has been filed.” A copy of the
form promulgated by the EEOC for filing a charge is attached hereto as Exhibit C.

Since the alleged discriminatory actions in this case occurred no later than

October 1999 and North Gibson requires a “charge” within 300 days, the EEOC in this case must
establish the existence of a “charge” no later than August 2000. During that time (and indeed for
many months thereafter), all that happened was that the EEOC sent Sidley a single letter on July
5.2000. (Op. Br.. Ex. A.) In this case, therefore, the EEOC has to persuade this Court to treat

that letter as equivalent to a “‘charge.”
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The letter (signed by EEOC counsel) does not purport to include a “clear and
concise statement” of facts claimed to “constitut[e] the alleged unlawful employment practices”
or “allege™ any “discriminatory act(s).” It does not “promptly notify” Sidley that a *“‘charge had
been filed” in those words or any equivalent words. On the contrary, the letter says that the
EEOC was still gathering “evidence necessary to its investigation” and that the letter’s purpose
was “to inform yvou that the Commission is investigating your organization in order to deterntine
its compliance status with the ADEA.” The letter nowhere suggested that the Requests For
Information accompanying the July 5, 2000 letter somehow constituted a “charge,” a proposition
first advanced by the EEOC in its brief to this Court. (EEOC Br. 18, n. 12.) On the contrary,
those Requests reinforce the idea that the EEOC was trying to determine whether to charge
Sidlev with unlawful conduct.?

The letter uses the word “charge” only in a heading reference to an “EEOC
Charge Number.” That and (mostly) later references to a “charge” (the later ones occurring long
after the 300 days had expired) led counsel for Sidley to ask the EEOQC if a “charge of
discrimination”™ had in fact been filed. (Op. Br,, Ex. B.) EEOC counsel responded on
December 27. 2001 (more than 15 months after the 300 days had expired): “No partner or
former partner of Sidley & Austin has yet filed a charge of discrimination.” (Op. Br., Ex. C at
1.) Certainly, if a “charge”™ had been filed, the EEOC would have disclosed it to both Sidley and
the Court. The EEOC s reliance on its “directed investigation” confirms that the critical
jurisdictional prerequisite for seeking individual relief is absent in this case.

There 1s an additional and more fundamental problem with the EEOC’s argument.

An agency which both writes regulations and enforces them can change those regulations after

Fifieen months later, the EEOC sent a subpoena to Sidley because, as the EEOQC put it, based on
information they then had, “the EEOC is unable to analyze . . . whether there has been a statutory violation.” (See
October 23. 2001 letter from EEOC Investigator Akbar to Sidley, attached hereto as Exhibit D).

-6 -
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advance public notice and a comment period, using procedures Congress has specifically
prescribed for this purpose. [t violates those rules, due process, and fundamental fairness to allow
an agency to surprise those it regulates with unpredictable and strained interpretations of the
agency's own words. For these reasons, the EEOC should not be allowed to ex post facto
redefine the term “charge’ to include an initial letter of inquiry not meeting any of the preexisting
regulatory requirements of a “charge.”

B. The 1996 Johnson & Higgins (* J& ") Opinion, Which The

Seventh Circuit For Good Reason Ignored In 2001 In Deciding North
Gibson, Cannot And Does Not Provide Reason To Disregard North Gibson.

The main case the EEOC relies on is J&H. (EEOC Br. 13-15.) The EEOC does
not accurately describe J& H which, when read correctly, is consistent with North Gibson. In all
events. J& ff inherently cannot be a reason for this Court to ignore North Gibson.

The EEOC seems to suggest that North Gibson arose in a different manner than
J& H. but in fact both cases involved investigations commenced by the EEOC concerning
individuals who had not filed charges and did not bring suits (thirteen in J& H; five in North
Gibson). All claims of these individuals were thus, as the EEOC puts it, “predicated” on a
~directed investigation” (assuming that means “an investigation undertaken by the EEOC solely
on its own initiative”). J&H does not rely on the fact of a “directed investigation,” a term it
nowhere mentions, and J& ff nowhere holds what the EEOC claims: that “a directed
mvestigation opened . . . within the 300-day limitation period™ is equivalent to a timely charge,
thus authorizing individual relief. {EEQC Br. 13.)

Jd& H had no occasion to consider individual relief because it was an appeal from a
judgment granting only general injunctive relief, individual relief was not at issue. The
defendant in J& H argued that, because no charge had been filed, the EEOC was barred from
pursing any remedy whatsoever. 91 F.3d. at 1535. J&H rejected the defendant’s argument,

-7-
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citing ADEA section 626 for the proposition that “the EEOC may commence actions in district
court to obtain both legal and equitable relief” — a point no one can dispute (and Sidley surely
does not). The J&H court also mentioned sections 216(c) and 217 of the FLSA (discussed at

pp- 9-10. below). Those sections empower the EEOC to bring actions to recover monetary relief,
to investigate possible violations, and to bring injunctive actions, id. at 1536, again general
points no one can or does dispute. J& reserved ruling on the appropriateness of any particular
relief. id. at 1543 (remanding the case “for a determination of what additional relief, if any, is
appropriate”’}. however, and thus does not deal with the issue in North Gibson: Should
individual relief be barred by failure to file a timely charge?

J& H proceedings on remand also went off on points not at issue here. The
defendant moved for summary judgment based on waivers executed while the case was on
appeal. Summary judgment was denied because triable issues existed as to whether
consideration given for the waivers was adequate and whether the waivers were knowing and
voluntary. In addition, because the waivers purported to cover the suit filed by the EEOC, lack
of EEOC participation was a problem. EEOC v. Johnson & Higgins, 5 F. Supp.2d 181, 186-88
(S.D.N.Y. 1998). None of these issues was involved in North Gibson or is involved here, where
waiver was. and is. not asserted as a defense. After summary judgment was denied in J&f1, the
case settled. so there was no occasion to reach any of the issues in this case. This information,
all in the public domain by 1998, was considered so irrelevant to the issues in North Gibson that
the Seventh Circuit never mentions any of it.

Although J&H is thus not at odds with North Gibson, were the cases
contradictory, J& f could not warrant this Court ignoring a Seventh Circuit precedent. Decided

in 1996. J& H was specifically not followed by the district court in EEOC v. North Gibson
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School Corp., 2000 WL 33309722, *8 (5.D. Ind. June 21, 2000) (attached hereto as Exhibit A)
(declining to follow J&H in view of Harris Chernin). Affirming on appeal, the Seventh Circuit
ignored J& H but left no doubt that, to the extent J& H (or any other case) could be viewed as
inconsistent with Harris Chernin, the Seventh Circuit was following Harris Chernin. Thus, if -
contrary to fact but as the EEOC appears to argue — J& H were contrary to North Gibson, this
Court ought to ignore it as an earlier case which the Seventh Circuit deliberately declined to
follow.

C. FLSA Cases, Far From Undermining North Gibson, Have Given

Rise To A Parallel Analysis Which Reinforces North Gibson And Provides
An Alternative Ground To Dismiss Prayer For Relief C.

The EEOC’s final argument attacking the rationale in North Gibson for reasons
unrelated to Waffle House is that, “because the ADEA incorporates the FLSA’s enforcement
procedures, the EEQOC enjoys the same authority to seek monetary relief under the ADEA in the
absence of a Charge and after a directed investigation that the Department of Labor enjoys under
the FLSA.” (EEOC Br. 17.) That argument leads to a line of reasoning that further fortifies
North Gibson and provides an alternative ground for granting Sidley’s motion.

The EEOC relies on ADEA section 626(b): “The provisions of this chapter shall
be enforced in accordance with the powers, remedies and procedures provided in sections
211(b). 216 (except for subsection (a) thereof), and 217 of the FLSA.” One incorporated FLSA
section. 216(c), adopts the FLSA limitations period (in FLSA section 255):

In determining when an action is commenced by the Secretary of

Labor under this subsection for the purposes of the statutes of

limitations provided in section 255(a) of this title, it shall be

considered to be commenced in the case of any individual

complainant on the date when the complaint 1s filed if he is

specifically named as a party plaintiff, or . . . on the subsequent
date on which his name is added as a party plaintiff . . .

68754 4
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The FLSA limitations period is usually 2 (sometimes 3) years and applies to Department of
Labor attempts to recover any relief, individual or general. In other words, if the Department of
Labor were suing under the FLSA in 2005 for an alleged 1999 violation, as the EEOC is doing
here, the suit would be dismissed as untimely. To give the EEOC what it seeks, then, “the same
authority . . . the Department of Labor enjoys,” requires dismissal of prayer for relief C.

In fact, there 15 recent authority that supports this result. In Rossiter v. Potter, 357
F.3d 26 (1st Cir. 2004) (" Rossiter”), the court held that, absent an express ADEA limitations
period. the court should “borrow™ the FLSA statute of limitations to prevent ADEA claims
without a limitations period. Rossiter involved an ADEA case brought by a federal employee.
Federal employees need not file a charge with the EEOC before filing suit and thus are not
subject to the 300-day filing rule. After the 1991 amendments to the ADEA (see Op. Br. 5-9),
the old FLSA limitations period was eliminated for private ADEA actions and only the 300-day
rule remained to limit claims of individuals (other than federal employees). Rossiter had to
decide if the amendment meant that Congress intended to have no time limitation on a federal
emplovee’s right to pursue damages, or instead, if the courts should “borrow™ a limitations
period from an “analogous™ statute, following DelColstell v. International Brotherhood of
Teamsters, 462 U.S. 151, 158 (1983) (when Congress is silent as to statute of limitations,
borrowing a limitations period from another federal source is appropriate when the borrowed
statute was “actually designed to accommodate a balance of interests very similar to that at
stake” and was “in fact, an analogy” to the statute containing no limitations provision).

Rossiter decided borrowing was warranted. Rossifer considered but declined to
borrow the 300-day limitations period applicable to Title VII cases. The court reasoned that,

because federal employees were not required to file a charge, Title VII was not the most

-10 -
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analogous statute. 357 F.3d at 29-32. Rossiter instead “borrowed” the FLSA’s limitations
periods as most analogous. For present purposes, this holding (choosing the limitations period to
borrow) is not as important as the reasons Rossiter articulated to justify “borrowing” in the first
place. The reasons Rossiter gave are reminiscent of the ones given by Judge Leinenweber in the
similar situation he faced in Coppello (357 F.3d at 34-35):

The FLSA’s goals are congruent with the ADEA’s: like the ADEA, the
FLSA was designed to protect individual workers . . . The FLSA’s
enforcement mechanism also paraliels the enforcement mechanism
characteristic of ADEA bypass actions, that is, it creates private rights of
action that do not depend upon a regime of admnistrative

enforcement . . . Moreover, the FLSA's limitations period is designed to
accommodate a balance of interests similar to those at stake in ADEA
bypass actions. The importance of this fact is obvious.

* * *

To cinch muatters, sound policy also supports resort to the FLSA's
limitations period. A two-year statute of limitations in no way undermines
the salient interests served by timeliness rules in federal anti-
discrimination laws, which are meant to “protect employers from the
burden of defending claims arising from employment decisions that are
long past.” (Citations omitted.)

In sum, Rossiter sensibly concluded that Congress did not intend to give federal
emplovees unfettered nghts to sue with absolutely no time limitation. If the statute imposed no
limit, it made eminent sense to use a settled legal technique (7.e., one Congress in 1991 knew
existed) of “borrowing” the most appropriate rule of timeliness from the closest statutory source.

The same reasoning should apply to EEOC actions brought after 1991. The 1991
amendment focused on private ADEA litigants who thereafter needed only to comply with the
Title VII limitations period (300/180 days to file a charge, 90 days to file suit following the
investigation). (See Op. Br. 5-9.) The legislative history of the 1991 amendment shows that
Congress” primary concern was the confusion the different filing requirements were causing

private litigants. See H.R. REP. No. 102-40(I), p. 96 (1991) (“some of the differences between

-11-
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the Title VIl and ADEA charge-filing and litigation limitations provisions have led to substantial
confusion among persons alleging discrimination . . . under the ADEA and Title VII
together. ... As aresult of these differences, many age discrimination victims lost their rights
to go to court, because they were unaware of the ADEA’s time limitations for filing a lawsuit™).
The EEOC obviously was not confused in this way, and there is no reason to think the 1991
amendments were intended to remove the limitations period for its benefit. Therefore,
“borrowing” to limit the EEOC is even more appropriate in this case than in Rossiter.

Rossiter, North Gibson and Coppello all rest on the same common-sense idea:
Congress surely did not intend to create an unprecedented endless right to sue on ADEA claims
back to 1978 - a right which would grow more expansive with each passing year — especially by
an amendment effectively shortening ADEA limitations periods to make them conform to other
statutes. all of which limit EEOC suits. To cover what surely was Congressional intent, all three
courts applied a limitations rule Congress itself had created in a closely analogous situation.
North Gibson and Coppello did not use the “borrowing” wording that Rossiter used, but all three
cases got to comparable results for comparable reasons.

11I.  North GibsonNot Only Survives, But
Is Ratified By, The Opinion In WafiTe House.

The EEOC largely abandoned its threatened Waffle House argument (which gave
rise to the present motion) except to invent two straw men arguments and attribute those to
Sidley: (1) that Waffle House can never apply to an ADEA case; and (ii) that Waffle House s
reasoning should be limited to the arbitration context. (EEOC Br. 9.) Netther fairly describes
any Sidley position or any issue that need be decided here.

What Sidley did argue in its Opening Brief is that Waffle House continued a

decades-long tradition of choosing between two coexisting doctrines: the EEQC 1s sometimes a

-12-
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“representative” of, but is not always “a proxy™ for, individual employees. Sidley next argued
that one needs to look bevond these simplified labels to decide in particular cases which doctrine
should apply. (See Op. Br. at 15-18.) The EEOC does not dispute either that these two doctrines
coexist (and have long coexisted) or that a lawyer cannot persuasively advocate a choice between
them by parroting only one.

On the key question as to what criteria should be used to decide which doctrine
should apply, the EEOC offers no answer. The EEOC does not, however, dispute Sidley’s
answer that a reasonable guideline comes from part V of the majority opinion in Waffle House,
which distinguishes cases where the issue is a procedural one, such as whether the EEOC must
arbitrate. from substantive rights cases (like North Gibson) involving the “'validity of [a] claim”
or the “relief that could be appropriately awarded.” (See 534 U.S. at 296; Op. Br. 16-18.) For
the former. Haffle House held the EEOC should not be bound by what individuals did; for the
latter, Waffle House effectively said (in dicta) the EEOC should be. Indeed, as the Supreme
Court stated, “[i]t is true . . . that [a claimant’s} conduct may have the effect of limiting the relief
the EEOC may obtain in court.” 534 U.S. at 296. That is precisely the situation here.

IV, BOR Provides No Reason To Ignore North Gibson.

The EEOC won the BOR case with briefs that distinguished North Gibson (which
defendant there cited) on grounds exactly parallel to the Waffle House distinction just discussed.
Specifically. the EEQC brief to the Seventh Circuit in BOR stated that North Gibson:

recognized, in certain contexts, that the Commission is in privity with the
individuals for whom it seeks relief in its ADEA actions . . . That
principle, however, does not support UW’s claim of immunity. It merely
limits the Commission to a claim for injunctive relief in cases in which
the charging party, by his own actions, has disqualified himself from
recovering monetary damages in a Commission action.

-13-
6875404



Case 1:05-cv-00208 Document 20  Filed 05/24/2005 Page 17 of 101

(Exhibit B at 29-30.) The EEOC thereby so persuasively reconciled its position in BOR with
North Gibson that the Seventh Circuit in BOR accepted the EEOC’s position without mentioning
North Gibson. It is therefore neither fair nor persuasive for the EEOC now to argue that the
result in BOR is so inconsistent with North Gibson as to have overruled it sub silento.

The EEOC analysis quoted above is both reasonable on its face and an accurate
restatement of the analysis of the Third Circuit in U.S. Steel, the Seventh Circuit in Harris
Chernin and North Gibson, the Supreme Court in Waffle House, and the Fifth Circuit in the post-
Waffle House decision in Vines. All agree that the EEOC’s right to pursue individual relief is
limited “in certain contexts.” which include — to use the EEOC’s phrasing (from its BOR brief) —
where the individual, “by his own actions, has disqualified himself from recovering monetary
damages.” That was the situation both in North Gibson and here, where the individuals either
missed the deadline for filing a “charge” or did not file a charge at all.

The EEOC’s original position in BOR should be adopted, North Gibson should be
applied. and the present motion should be granted.

CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons set forth above and in Sidley’s Opening Brief, we ask the
Court to rule that North Gibson remains the law in the Seventh Circuit and, accordingly, that

praver for relief C should be dismissed with prejudice.

-14 -
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M
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

United States District Court, S.D. Indiana,
Evansville Division.
EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY
COMMISSION, Plaintiff,
v,
NORTH GIBSON SCHOOL CORPORATION,
Defendant.
No. EV98-0168-C-Y/H.

June 21, 2000.

ORDER ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT

McKINNEY.

*1 This matter comes before the Court on the
motion of defendant, the North Gibson School
Corporation ("NGSC"), seeking judgment in its
favor as a matter of law on all of the claims
presented in the complaint filed by the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOQC")
on September 3, 1998. The EEOC brought this
action under the Age Discrimination in Employment
Act ("TADEA™), 29 U.S.C. §§ 621 et seq. It alleges
that NGSC discrimunated against seven of its
teachers based on their age when it maintained an
early retirement plan which paid lower benefits to
employees age 56 to 64 than to employees age 55,
and no benefits to employees age 65 and older.
Compl. ®% 7-8. The Court has fully considered
the parties’ argumnents and, for the reasons discussed
below, GRANTS the defendant's motion for
summary judgment.

I FACTUAL & PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

In early January of 1997, the Northern District of
Indiana determined that the early retirement

Filed 05/24/2005  Page 21 of 18¢¢ 2 of 9
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program in the Crown Point Community School
Corporation's  collective  bargaining  agreement
("CBA") discriminated against teachers and
administrators on the basis of their age. See EEOC
v. Crown Poimt Community Sch. Corp., 72 FEP
Cases 1803 (N.D.Ind.1997). At the time the order
was issued, the CBA between NGSC and the North
Gibson Education Association ("Union") included
an early retirement plan which was similar to the
Crown Point plan. Under this plan, which was
adopted in 1988 and amended in 1995, a teacher's
early retirement benefit was calculated by
multiplying the number of years of service (up to
twenty) by a percentage which was obtained from a
chart in the plan. Master Contract at 41-45. That
figure was then multiplied by the starting salary in
the year of retirement for a teacher with a master's
degree. /d. Percentages were assigned according to
the age of the teacher at the time of retirement and
the year of retirement. /d For example, NGSC
calculated the benefits for a teacher in his or her
first year of retirement who retired at age fifty-five
using 2.5% as the percentage multiplier. /d In
contrast, the benefits for a teacher in his or her first
year of retirement who retired at age fifty-nine were
figured using 1.5% as the multiplier. /d.

When Cathy Heck ("Heck"), the Uniserv Director
for the State Teachers Association and Chief
Negotiator for the Union, learned of the Crown
Point decision, she contacted Sandra Nixon
("Nixon"}, Superintendent of NGSC, and suggested
that there might be a problem with NGSC's early
retirement plan. Heck Dep. at 26. In a letter to
Nixon dated March 10, 1997, Heck informed Nixon
that "the Association has become aware that the
carly retirement plan in Article XIII of the master
contract may no longer be appropriate.” Def.'s Dep.
Ex. 22. According to Nixon, NGSC shortly
thereafter advised the Union that pursuant to Article
IV of the CBA, which provides that neither party is
bound by any provision of the agreement which it
may hereafter, in good faith, determine or find
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contrary to law, NGSC believed that it was no
longer bound by the early retirement plan. Nixon
Aff. € 6. By letter dated March 20, 1997, NGSC
agreed to meet with the Union to negotiate a new
carly retirement plan. Def.'s Dep. Ex. 23.

*2 The first negotiation meeting was held on May
29, 1997. Heck Dep. at 29; Def's Dep. Ex. 24,
Approximately twenty teachers attended the
meeting because early retirement was a "very high
interest topic.” Heck Dep. at 30. At the meeting,
NGSC told the Union's bargaining committee that
no one else would be permitted to retire under the
questionable early retirement provisions in the CBA
and that anyone who wanted to retire early before
the parties had reached a new agreement would
have to negotiate their retirement provisions
separately. fd. at 32-33. From May 29, 1997 to
March 9, 1998, the Union and NGSC met on
several occasions to discuss and negotiate a new
early retirement plan. Nixon Aff. § 7. A new plan
was finally adopted on February 25, 1998 and
ratified by the Union on March 9, 1998. /d.

Prior to the official adoption and ratification of the
new early retirement plan, two teachers from NGSC
filed charges of age discrimination with the EEOC
under the previous retirermnent plan. Lewis Schleter
("Schleter”} and Fred Anthis ("Anthis") filed their
charges of discrimination on December 29, 1997,
claiming that: ".. The contract for Teachers and
Admimstrators provides that older retirees receive a
lesser percentage of their salaries for their
retirement pay, and that they receive the retirement
pay for a lesser number of years than the younger
retirees do.” Def.'s Dep. Exs. 3, 14. At present, both
Schleter and Anthis are still employed with NGSC.
Schleter Dep. at 6; Anthis Dep. at 19.

Schleter and Anthis first realized that they were
"being discnminated against™ under the NGSC early
retirement plan in either 1994 or 1995, Schleter
Dep. at 14; Anthis Dep. at 37. At one point,
Schleter and Anthis specifically discussed the fact
that they believed the retirement plan "was
discriminative™ because they were sixty years oid,
but they did not file charges of discrimination with
the EEOC. Schleter Dep. at 18. In addition, Schleter
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and Anthis both claim that they would have retired
in 1995, but for the discriminatory nature of the
then current early retirement plan. fd. at 46; Def.
Dep. Ex. 10; Anthis Dep. at 22. However, neither
talked to NGSC about retirement or otherwise gave
notice of his intent or desire to retire at that time,
Schleter Dep. at 46; Anthis Dep. at 22. Several
years later, Schleter and Anthis also became aware
that the Union was negotiating a new early
retirement plan in light of the Crown Point decision.
Schleter Dep. at 21; Anthis Dep. at 11.
Nevertheless, both teachers waited over six months
to file a charge of discrimination with the EEOQC.

Nixon received a "Notice of Charge of
Discrimination” from the EEOC on or about
January 2, 1998. Afier numerous attempts to
conciliate the charges, the EEQOC filed a complaint
with this Court on September 3, 1998. In that
complaint, the EECC alleged that since at least
1992, NGSC had engaged in unlawful employment
practices in  violation of the ADEA by
discriminating on the basis of age against
individuals age fifty-six or older in the payment of
early retirement benefits. Compl. 9§ 7. The
complaint included a request for both injunctive and
monetary relief. {[FN1]

FN1. The EEOC requested that the Court:
(1) grant a permanent injunction enjoining
NGSC from engaging in any employment
practice which discriminates on the basis
of age against individuals forty years and
older, (2) order NGSC to institute and
carry out policies, practices and programs
which  provide equal employment
opportunities for those forty and older and
which eradicate the effects of its past and
present unlawful employment practices, (3)
order NGSC to make whole those
individuals whose early retirement benefits
were or are being unlawfully withheld as a
result of the acts complained of above, by
restraining the continued withholding of
amounts  owing, with  prejudgment
mterests, in amounts to be determined at
trial, and (4) order NGSC to make whole
all individuals adversely affected by the
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unlawful practices descnibed above, by
providing the affirmative relief necessary
to eradicate the effects of its unlawful
practices. Compl. 79 A-D.

*3 On November 18, 1998, NGSC filed a motion
to distmss pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure 12(b)X1) and 12(b}{6). NGSC alleged
that the EEOC's claims for injunctive relief should
be dismissed as moot because the allegedly
discniminatory plan was no longer in effect. Further,
NGSC maintained that the EEOC's monetary claims
for class-based discrimination were not actionable
because no individual affected by the plan,
including Schleter or Anthis, filed a timely charge
of discrimination and, therefore, none of the
potential members of the “class” could recover
monetary damages if they wanted to bring their
claims mdiidually. In its order dated August 5,
1999, the Court granted NGSC's motion as it
pertained to the EEOC's claims for injunctive relief.
The Court reasoned that the request was moot
because the discriminatory plan was no longer in
effect and the EEOC had no reasonable expectation
that the plan would be reinstated. August 5, 1999
Order at 10. With respect to claims for monetary
reltef, however, the Court denied NGSC's motion
on the basis that it did not have enough information
about the class to determine whether the EEOC
could maintain an action for monetary damages. /d
at 20.

Shortly thereafter, the EEQC sent a letter to
potential class members requesting that they contact
the agency's legal counsel. Nixon Dep. at 97-100;
Def’s Dep. Ex. 32. When potential members called
the agency 1n response to the letter, they were asked
whether they wanted to participate as a class
member in the EEOGC’s suit against NGSC. Nixon
Dep. at 99. In February of 2000, the EEOC
identified the class of individuals it purports to
represent in this case as: Carolyn Browning, Iona
Froman, William Kretemeyer, Francis Murphy,
JoAnne Parke, Fred Anthis and Lewis Schieter.
With the exception of Schleter and Anthis, none of
these individuals ever filed a grievance or voiced a
complaint to either NGSC or the Union about the
early retirement language in the CBA. Nixon Dep.
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at 104-06, 120, 122, 115. Nor did anyone file a
charge of discrimination with the EEOC. /d at
104-06, 120, 122, 115.

At present, this case is before the Court on a
motion for summary judgment filed by NGSC on
March 15, 2000. NGSC contends that it is entitled
to judgment as a matter of law because the EEOQC
cannot seek monetary relief when each of the
teachers represented in this action failed to preserve
his or her right to sue as a private individual.
Having reviewed the factual and procedural
background, the Court now tums to a brief
overview of the standards governing its decision.

Il SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

Summary judgment is granted "if the pleadings,
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and
admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if
any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any
material fact and that the moving party is entitied to
a judgment as a matter of law." Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c).
An issue is genuine only if the evidence is such that
a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the
opposing party. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.,
477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). A disputed fact is
matenial only if it might affect the outcome of the
suit in Light of the substantive law. /d.

*4 The moving party has the initial burden to show
the absence of genuine issues of material fact. See
Schroeder v. Barth, 969 F.2d 421, 423 (7th
Cir.1992). This burden does not entail producing
evidence to negate claims on which the opposing
party has the burden of proof. See Green v. Whiteco
Indus., Inc., 17 F.3d 199, 201 & n. 3 (7th Cir.1994),
The party opposing a summary judgment motion
bears an affirmative burden of presenting evidence
that a disputed issue of material fact exists.
Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp.,
475 U.S. 574, 586-87 (1986); Scherer v. Rockwell
Int'l Corp., 975 F.2d 356, 360 (7th Cir.1992). The
opposing party must "go beyond the pleadings" and
set forth specific facts to show that a genuine issue
exists. See Hong v. Children’s Mem. Hosp., 993
F.2d 1257, 1261 (7th Cir.1993), cert. denied, 511
U.S. 1005 (1994). This burden cannot be met with
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conclusory statements or speculation, see Weihaupt
v. American Med Ass'm, 874 F2d 419, 428 (7th
Cir.1989), but only with appropriate citations to
relevant admissible evidence. See Local Rule 56.1;
Brasic v. Heinemann's Inc., Bakeries, 121 F.3d
281, 286 (7th Cir.1997); Waldridge v. American
Hoechst Corp., 24 F.3d 918, 923-24 (7th Cir.1994),
Evidence sufficient to support every essential
element of the claims on which the opposing party
bears the burden of proof must be cited. See Celotex
Corp. v. Catrett, 477U S, 317, 322 (1986).

In considering a summary judgment motion, a court
must draw all reasonable inferences "in the light
most favorable” to the opposing party. Spraying
Sys. Co. v. Delavan, Inc., 975 F.2d 387, 392 (7th
Cir.1992). If a reasonable factfinder could find for
the opposing party, then summary judgment 1s
inappropriate. Shields Enters., Inc. v. First Chicago
Corp.. 975 F.2d 1290, 1294 (7th Cir.1992). When
the standard embraced in Rule 56(c) is met,
summary judgment is mandatory. Celotex Corp.,
477 U.S. at 322-23; Shields Emters., 975 F2d at
1294,

i1 DISCUSSION

NGSC  contends that summary judgment s
appropriate in this matter as the EEOC is barred
from bringing an action for monetary damages
because not one of teachers represented filed a
timely charge with the EEOC. The EEQC counters
that under the ADEA the agency can bring an action
for damages, including backpay, on behaif of a class
even where none of the plaintiffs have filed a
discrimination charge. In the alternative, it asserts
that Schleter's and Anthis’ charges were timely.

The ADEA provides that it shall be unlawful for an
employer "to discriminate against any individual
with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions
or pnvileges of employment, because of such
individual's age.” 29 U.S.C. § 623. Subsections (h)
and (c) of § 626 authorize the EEQOC to bring a
claim on behalf of an individual. In fact, an
individual's right to bring a civil action under the
ADEA "shall terminate upon the commencement of
an action by the Equal Employment Opportunity
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Commission to enforce the right of such employee”
under the Act. 29 UU.S.C. § 626(c). The limitation
placed on the EEQC is that it must attempt to
eliminate the discriminatory practice and effect
voluntary compliance through informal conciliation,
conference and persuasion before bringing suit. 29
U.S.C. § 626(b).

*5 As previously stated in the Court's order issued
August 5, 1999, the EEOC has a right to sue which
is independent of any private plaintiff's right to sue.
EEQOC v. Harris Chernin, Inc., 10 F.3d 1286, 1291
(7th Cir.1993) (citing General Telephone Co. v.
EEOC, 446 U.S. 318, 326 (1980)). Put differently,
the EEOC's role in combating age discrimination is
not dependent on an individual filing a charge.
Gilmer v. Interstate/Johnson Lane Corp., 500 U S,
20, 28 (1991). In practice, this means that the
EEOC may receive information as to the alleged
violations of the ADEA and subsequently conduct
an investigation. /d. Once the EEOC begins an
investigation, the EEOC may seek relief on behalf
of individuals who are identified during the
investigation, even if those individuals have not
filed charges. See 29 U.S.C. § 626(d). When the
EEOC seeks relief on behalf of an individual or a
group of individuals who have previously litigated,
settled, waived or arbitrated their discrimination
claims, cases from vartous circuits have held that
the EEOC cannot bring a suit for monetary
damages. See EEOC v. Kidder, Peabody & Co.,
Inc., 156 F.3d 298, 301 (2nd Cir.1998) (citations
omitted). The agency may still pursue injunctive
relief, but when the EEOC is seeking monetary
damages on behalf of an individual courts have
reasoned that there is less public interest at stake.
See id. at 301-02; Harris Chernin, 10 F.3d at 1291,

Applying these principles, NGSC asserts that it is
entitled to judgment as a matter of law on the
EEOC's claims for monetary relief because the
agency is precluded from resting its complaint on
the timebarred claims of Schleter, Anthis or any of
the remaining five teachers represented who failed
to file a discrimination charge with the EEOC at any
point. With respect to Schleter and Anthis, NGSC
contends specifically that the applicable limitations
period for filing a timely charge with the EEOC
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began to run on July 1, 1997, or 180 days back from
December 29, 1997, the day on which Schleter and
Anthis both filed with the EEOC. Neither teacher's
charge was timely because the early retirement plan
was no longer in effect after May 29, 1997, when
the Union began negotiating for a new plan. Thus,
Schleter and Anthis effectively waived their claims
for relief. Similarly, regarding the remaining five
plaintiffs, NGSC maintains that all of the teachers
waived their right to bnng an action when they were
employed in the North Gibson school system for at
least ten years and, despite the allegedly
discriminatory language in the CBA regarding early
retirement, chose not to complain or file anything
with the Union or the EEOC. Consequently, the
EEQOC is without a representative charge on which
to base its claim for monetary relief.

In response, the EEQC counters that the agency's
right to sue is wholly independent from that of a
pnvate individual. Therefore, it does not need a
ttmely charge in order to obtain relief for those
citizens participating in the action. Alternatively,
the EEOC contends that while NGSC began
negotiating for a new early retirement plan in May
of 1997, a new plan was not adopted and ratified by
the Unmion until March of 1998, Schleter's and
Anthis' charges filed December 29, 1997, were,
therefore. timely.

*6 The undisputed facts show that the EEOC is
without a timely charge on which to base its
complaint. First, with respect to members
Browning, Froman, Krietemeyer, Murphy and
Parke. both parties agree that none of these teachers
ever filed a claim with the agency. Second,
regarding Schleter and Anthis, the Court notes that
Indiana 15 a non-deferral state for purposes of the
ADEA which means that any action taken by an
alleged victim of age discrimination is governed by
the 180 day limitations period set forth in §
626(dX1) of the statute. Daugheritv v. Traylor
Brothers, Inc., 970 F.2d 348, 350 n. 2 {7th Cir.1992)
. As a general rule, this time begins to run when the
claimant receives notice that he is being
discriminated against. £EEQC v. (F'Grady, 857 F.2d
383, 386 n. 7 (7th Cir.1988). However, as both
parties appear to concede, in this case NGSC's

Page 5

conduct of maintaining an allegedly discriminatory
policy amounts to a “continuing violation" of
ADEA rights. Thus, the limitations period is
determined by looking back 180 days from the date
the charge was filed to consider whether the
violation continued into that period. See Stewart v.
CPC Intern., Inc., 679 F.2d 117, 121 (7th Cir.1982).

Here, it is undisputed that NGSC publicly
renounced its allegedly discriminatory plan for early
retirernent benefits on May 29, 1997. As evidence
that NGSC continued to discriminate with regard to
early retirement benefits beyond this date, the
EEOC points to Dave Specht ("Specht”) and Noel
Loftin {("Loftin"), two teachers who allegedly
retired under the discriminatory plan after NGSC
claimed it was terminated. Specifically, the EEOC
argues that Specht retired in August of 1997 and
accepted retirement benefits under the old plan in
October. With respect 10 Loftin, the EEOC
concedes that he negotiated a separate retirement
package with NGSC but claims that the benefits he
received were, for all practical purposes, the same
as what he would have gotten under the old plan. In
the EEOC's view, these facts demonstrate that the
discriminatory policy was still in effect after May of
1997.

Even when considered in the light most favorable
to the EEOC, this evidence does not create a
genuine issue of material fact as to whether NGSC
was still using the allegedly discriminatory plan
within 180 days of when Schleter and Anthis filed a
charge with the EEOC. Specht had formally
tendered his resignation in a letter to NGSC dated
March 31, 1997, or nearly two months before the
discriminatory plan was abandoned. The fact that he
later received payments under the plan within 180
days of Schleter and Anthis' filings does not amount
to evidence of a continuing violation. It is
well-settled that the continuing violation doctrine
does not apply when an employee is merely
continuing to suffer in the present from the harmful
effects of an employer's past act of discrimination.
See United Air Lines, Inc. v. Evans, 431 U.S. 553
(1977); Stewart, 679 F 2d at 120.

*7 As for Loftin's case, although the payments he
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EEOCSs role in this matter would afford linle, if
any, protection for the public interest for several
reasons.

FN2. The EEOC strongly contends that
Harris Chernin is 1napplicable because
here none of the teachers represented had
previously litigated any of the claims
presented so as to create an issue of res
judicata. Instead, the EEOC argues that the
outcome in this case should be controlled
by the Seventh Circuir's decisions in EEQOC
v. United Parcel Service, 94 F.3d 314 (Tth
Cir.1996) and Anderson v. Montgomery
Ward & Co., Inc., 852 F.2d 1008 (7th
Cir.1988). It further cites, among other
cases, EEOC v. Johnson & Higgins, Inc.,
91 F.3d 1529 (2d Cir.1996) and EEOC v.
Frank's Nursery & Crafts, Inc., 177 F.3d
448 (6th Cir.1999) as persuasive authority
for its position that the agency can
maintain an action for monetary relief even
where none of the individuals represented
filed a charge of discrimination.

The EEOC's position is untenable. In
applying Harris Chernin, the Court readily
acknowledges the factual distinction
between it and the matter presented for
disposition in this order. Nevertheless, the
Court is guided by the Seventh Circuit's
decision in that case because it sets forth
the rationale for why the EEQC is
permitted to maintain an action which is
independent from a private litigant. As for
the other cases cited by the EEOC, none
are instructive to the extent that those
decisions did not present situations in
which not one representative plaintiff had
fied a timely charge and the
discriminatory ~ policy  or  unlawful
employment practice had been eradicated
at the time the EEOC filed suit. As a result,
those courts were not forced to scrutinize
the strength of the public interest at stake.

First, any damages recovered by the EEQOC would
go directly to the seven teachers participating in the
action. Like Harris Chernin, this is not a situation
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in which the EEOC is seeking damages in an
amount equal to what the teachers represented
would have received but for the discrimination with
an intent to funnel the money back into the agency's
budget to expand the resources available to fight
employment discrimination in the future. Instead,
the teachers would pocket the damages awarded for
personal gain. Such a payout would, therefore, have
little if any impact on the public's ability to fight
discrimination in the workplace.

Second, it 15 undisputed that NGSC abandoned the
allegedly discriminatory early retirement plan
shortly after the Crown Point decision was issued.
No evidence has been offered to suggest that NGSC
intends to resurrect the old plan. Moreover, it is
highly unlikely that the school would assume the
risk associated with reimplementing such a plan
because the EEOC has investigated similar early
retirement provisions in at least two other school
districts, including Middlebury Community Schools
and Hanover Community School Corporation, for
alleged discrimination. More importantly, similar
provisions have been declared illegal in the Crown
Point Community Scheol Corporation and Gary
School Corporation. See Solon v. Gary Community
Sch. Corp., 180 F.3d 844 (7th Cir.1999); EEOC v.
Crown Point Community Sch. Corp., 1997 WL
54747 (N.D.Ind.1997).

Third, NGSC prompted negotiations for a new plan
nearly immediately after the Crown Point decision
was issued which suggests that it was aware that
failure to remedy any alleged discrimination in the
previous plan could carry serious consequences. As
a result of these negotiations, a new plan was
adopted and ratified by the Union in March of
1998. The EEOC offers no evidence to suggest that
its terms are unlawful.

Fourth, as previously stated, at least two courts in
this circuit have already declared similar early
retirement benefit provisions to be a violation of the
ADEA. Thus, any message that a monetary award to
the individual teachers represented in this action
could send would merely duplicate the alarm that
school corporations around the state have already
heard. As such, it is difficult to see the impact that
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enabling the EEQOC to bring this action would have
on deterring discrimination in  the education
workplace.

*9 Finally, any role that the EEOC may play in
protecting the public interest by bringing this suit is
outweighed by the impact that a monetary judgment
would inevitably have on the local community. This
1s not a case in which the dollars paid would come
from the bottomnless depths of a corporate bank
account in the private sector. Indeed, the reality
presented by the parties in this matter is that the
cost of any damages awarded against NGSC, as a
public scheol corporation, would be bome by the
local taxpayers, many of whom likely have children
in the very school systermn at issue. NGSC suggests
that a judgment on the amounts requested could
total nearly twenty percent of its annual budget and
would virtually bankrupt the corporation. Whether
this figure is in fact an accurate assessment, the
Court cannot ignore the reality that any award
obtained could easily create an ironmic result of
placing severe financial hardship on an entity whose
very purpose is to protect and develop the public
interest 1n education.

In sum, the Court is unpersuaded that enabling the
EEOC to litigate this case would do little more than
enable seven individuals who would ordinarily be
barred from recovery as private citizens to gain
compensation for their alleged injuries. NGSC is
entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

V. CONCLUSION

The EEOQC has failed to present sufficient evidence
from which the Court could find a genuine issue of
matenial fact for trial in this matter. Therefore, the
motion for summary judgment filed by NGSC is
GRANTED.

IT IS SO ORDERED this day of, 2000.

2000 WL 33309722 (S.D.Ind.)

END OF DOCUMENT
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STATEMENT OF SUBJECT MATTER AND APPELLATE JURISDICTION

Trne Appellant’s Jurisdictional Statement 1s inccomplete. The

distrizct court entered judgment in this case on May 11, 2001,

th

sliocwing a jury verdict. Appendix (“App.”) 1092.- Appellant filed
a <Timely Motion for Judgment as A Matter Of Law or, in the
ive, for a New Trial, on May 22, 2001. Docket Entry {(“DE”)
6. Tne district court denied that moticn in a Memorandum and
der dated July 6, 2001. App. 101-07. Appellant filed a timely
netize of appeal on  July 26, 2001. DE 112; see F.R.A.P

a(a) (1) (B).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

i. W¥hetner this lawsuit is barred by the Eleventh Amendment
Tz tnhe Unlted States Constitution wnere the suit was brought
zgainst 3 Srate defendant by the Equal Employment Opportunity

Zcmmission (“Commission”), an agency o¢f the United States

2. Wwnhether the Commission presented sufficient evidence to
sustain the jury verdicts of unlawful discrimination under the Age
JDiscrimiration in Empleoyment Act of 1967, thus precluding judgment
as a matter of law on that issue in favor of Appellant.

3. Wnether the Commission presented sufficient evidence to

supgert the Jjury verdicts of willful wviolations of the Age

An amended judgment was subsequently entered cn June 28,
2321, providing for additional injunctive relief. App. 108.
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Ziscrimination in Employment Act of 1967, thus precluding judgment

&8

s z matter of law on that issue in favor of Appellant.

4. Assuming there is adequate evidence to support the jury
veraicts, thus precluding Jjudgment as a matter of law in
Arpelliant’s favor, whether the district court abused its discretion

in denyling Appellant’s motion for a new trial.

(=3}

“Whether the district court abused its discretion in

fu

warding travel and deposition costs with respect to five of the

crmission’s witnesses, none of whom is a party to this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

L. Mature of the Case

T~

Inls 18 a public enforcement action brought by the Commission

e
L
&
w0

2ant to Section 7 of the Age Discrimination in Employment of

(“ADEAY), 29 U.5.C. 626. The Commission alleges that the
deferndant, Board of Regents of the University of Wisconsin System
("UwW"), wiclated the ADEA when it terminated, because of age, the
co.cyment of the four charging parties: Rosalie Robertson, Mary
2raun, Joan Strasbaugh, and Charles Evenson. A jury returned
verdicts in the Commission’s favor, and the district court denied
vw’'s post-judgment meotion to have the verdicts set aside.

2. Course ¢of the Proceedings

The Commissicon initiated this action in September 2000. DE 2.

Cn Marcn 1, 2001, UW moved for summary judgment, arguing that the
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ci unlawfiul discrimination. DE 13. By order dated April 9, 2001,
tne district court denied UW's motion. App. 116-22.

Tne case was tried to a jury over a three-day period in early
May Z321. Tne case was bifurcated intc a liability phase and a
damages phase. At the close of the Commission’s liability case, UW
or judgment as a matter of law. Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at
i4-14. UW argued that there was no evidence “in the record to date
tnat I any of the four claimants had been younger, if they had
peen under 40 and all the other circumstances had remained the
game, Lhnat thelr treatment would have been different.” Id. at 16.

Tne district court denied the motion, stating as follows:

ne Court in examining the testimeny which has been provided

2 us to date dces believe that there has bheen evidence
sufficient for a reascnable jury to find that the vyounger
employees were provided more appropriate treatment than were
The ¢laimants in this matter. The Ccurt believes that there

s evidence which would allow that determination to be made
nd accordingly the motion for judgment as a matter of law
r Rule 50 is denied.

4. at 138 Jd renewed its motion for judgment as a matter of law
aT tne close of its liability case. Id. at 19%1. Again, the court

ed tne motion. Id. at 192-093.

L2

The liability issue was submitted to the jury with a special
veraict form. App. 111-13. The verdict form asked the jury with

respect tc each of the four charging parties whether UW terminated
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“ne Individual because of age and, if so, whether the termination
was willful. Id. The Jjury returned verdicts, answering yes to
each guestion. Id. Thus, the jury found that each of the charging
carties nad been terminated because cf age. Id. The jury also

found that thne termination in each case was willful. Id.

El

fter the jury returned verdicts on liability, the case moved
LC itne damages phase. The jury was again presented with a special
verdict form. The jury was asked with respect to each charging
varty wnat amount of meoney, if any, would reasonably compensate the
cnarging party for back pay and what amount of money, if any, would
reascnably ccmpensate the charging party for front pay. Id. at

2.4-1%5, The jury returned verdicts in the following amounts: Mary

L
LA
W
|
'3
iy

23,085 in back pay, $10,9%0 in front pay}; Charles Evenson
(322,382 In back pay, $39,297 in front pay): Rosalie Robertson
(3,874 in back pay, $19,979 in front pay’); Joan Strasbaugh
($3%,348 in bacx pay, $14,468 in front pay). App. 114-15. The
district court doubled the back pay damages for each charging
party, based upcn the Jury’s prior finding of willfulness, and
entered judgment on the verdicts. Id. at 109-10.

Fcllowing the trial, UW filed a Motion for Judgment as a

Matter of Law or, 1in the Alternative, for a New Trial. DE 96. UW

* By stipulation of the parties, Robertson’s front pay was
reduced to $1,894. Trial Tr. (May 9, 2001} at 214.

4
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arg-ed that 1t was entitled to judgment as a matter of law because
“nere was insufficient evidence to support the jury verdicts on

iiapility. Alrernatively, UW argued that it was entitled to a new

1
3
b

@]
]
)

_____ ause the jury's verdicts on the issues of liability,
ion, willfulness and damages are against the weight of the
evigence.” DE 96 at 4. By order dated July 6, 2001, the district
ccurt denled the motion. App. 101~07. The court ruled that UW was
itled to judgment as a matter of law because there was a

i

“legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find

Aro. 104, The court ruled that UW was not entitled te a new trial
cecause tne jury verdicts were “not against the weight of the

1

evidence” and the damages awarded were not “excessive.” Id. at

The Commission also filed a post-judgment motion, asking the
ccurt to provide additional injunctive relief for UW’'s multiple
wiclaticns of the ADEA. DE 90. The court granted the Commission’s
moticn in part, requiring UW to provide a training program for its
managers on age discrimination. App. 108. The court denied the
Ccmmission’s  request  for a  permanent, "no discrimination”

injuncrion. DE 137. The Commission elected not to appeal from the

0
F

&3]
t
81
}s

ict court’s denial of its request for a permanent injunction.

Cn July 12, 2001, the district court awarded $13,550.02 in
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csts to tne (Commission. DE 111. The cost award included
,£26.3% in travel and deposition costs for the four charging
zarties and Dr. Sovan Tun, a Commission employee who testified as
ar. expert at the damages phase of the trial. App. 123-27.

3. Statement of the Facts

:nls case stems from a decision by UW to terminate the

o
enc.

vrent of the four charging parties, all employees of the

]

Uriversity of Wisconsin Press (“Press”). Rosalie Robertson, age
ST, was the senior acquisitions editor. Trial Tr. (May 7, 2001) at

122, 133). Mary Braun, age 46, was an acquisitions editor. Id. at

(99

[
98]
™~

3, 242. Joan Strasbaugh, age 47, was an assistant marketing

1
[
1
[\
Wl
1]
e

wne worxed half-time in the acquisitions department. Id.

1]
L
Wy
o
|

W

-
-

235, Charles Evenson, age 54, was a senior marketing
spreciallist. Id. at 157, 167. The principal decision-makers for UW
vere Zavid Bethea, the interim director of the Press, and Steve
Salemson, tne Assoclate Director of the Press. Id. at 276; Trial

Tr. (May %, 2001) at 86-88.

Lty

etnea was appointed interim director of the Press in 1998.
iai Tr. ({(May 8, 2031) at 86-88. Bethea claims that he came to
tne conclusion, as early as February 1999, that the Press was
financially troubled and that steps had to be taken to save costs.
4. at 95-99. Bethea decided that it was necessary to terminate

several of the Press employees., Id. Working with Salemson, Bethea
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vcrepared a list of employees to be considered for the terminations.
fopelilee’s Supplemental Appendix (“Supp. App.”) 6-7; Trial Tr. (May
g, 133%) at e6-68, 131-33. That list, prepared in early March
1333, iInciuded all of the charging parties, who, with the exception
cf the decision-maxers themselves, were the oldest members of the
Press’ academic staff.’® Trial Tr. (May &, 1999) at 73-75, 131-33;
App. 123, The list did not include several of the younger staff
memcers.  See Supp. App. 6-7. One of the younger employees kept

cIf trne list, Rebecca Gimenez, was a Z3-year cld employee working

. trne mar«eting department. Trial Tr. (May 7, 2001) at 167; App.

b

37. ZBethea later remarked that he did not want to lose Gimenez
cecause sne was a “nighly skilled young woman.” Trial Tr. (May 8,
2221y at 138; Supp. App. 1.

By mid-to-late March 1999, Bethea and Salemson had finalized

1

thelr plan te terminate the employment of the four charging

o}
)
*y
ct
13

42
”

Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001} at 66-68; Supp. App. 8 (document

Lad

d

[93
1
rt
Y

/18/9%, reflecting the projected terminations of the four
crnarging parties). On April 23, 1999, Bethea met with the Press

Ccrmittee, wnich had oversight responsibility for the Press., Trial

Tnis excludes individuals working in the Press’ separate
ccurnals division, wnhich was not subject to the proposed

terminations. Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001y at 73-75, 117. It also
exciudes Elizabeth Steinberg (age 75), in the editerial
decartment, who had already announced her retirement. Id. at
~i2, 156-57.
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Tr. (May &, 2001) at 122-23. The Committee approved the proposed
cuts in staff. Id. at 123. The Committee, however, was not given

“ne names or backgreunds of the four individuals selected for the

terminations. Id. The propocsal was also submitted, as early as
Apriio5, 1939, to Ann Marie Lamboley, a senior administrative
Lrograms speclalist at UW. Id. at 150-52. Lamboley, known as the

arpus layoff expert,” 1instructed the two decision-makers to
cvide a stronger, written justification for the selection of the

focur charging parties as the individuals to be terminated. Id. at

Zetrnea and Salemson finalized a document entitled A

sustification for the UW Press’'s Layoff Proposal (“Justification”)

sn kpril 30, 1999, App. 136-51. Although the Justification
gurpcrted to be, among other things, an assessment of the
crrarative s<ills and experience of the individuals working at the
Press, id. at 142-51, neither Bethea nor Salemson ever spoke with
tre cnarging parties about their “skills, talents and
contributions.” Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 48-49. Nor did the two
decision-makers solicit the opinions of managers as te which
indiviauals snhould be let go. Id. at 39-40, 105-06. Because the
?ress did not maintain a formal process of employee evaluations,
the declsion-maxers "“didn’t have records in the form of formal

reviews of these four people to compare against formal reviews of
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‘newer; rires.” Id. at 65~66. Bethea concedes that, in assessing
Tre ceomparative skxills and experience of the charging parties, he
re’led to a significant degree on out-of-date resumes on file with
Tne Fress' and tnat he did not look at these resumes until late
April 1393, when ne and Salemson prepared the Justification. Id.
at IZE, 131-33. This was several weeks after he and Salemson had
finalized the list of individuals to be terminated.

Betnea and Salemson met with each of the charging parties on
z, 1399, Id. at 1z3-24,. Each was told that his or her
not 1n any way related to performance or

cerscnality issues.” Id. at 60. Each was provided with a copy of

By way of example, Rosalie Robertson’s resume “was from

1522" wnen snhe “nad first appliied for |her] peosition.” Trial Tr.
(May 7, 2331) at 135. The resume focused “on just the aspects or
the type 0of job [sne] was applying for at the time” and did not

include "all the marketing and editing experience” that she had

acquired over the years. Id., at 136. The resume is explicitly
referenced in that porticn of the Justification that discusses
tne supposed deficiencies in Robertson’s skills and experience.
~cpp. 144, Likewise, Charles Evenson’s resume was “ten years
c:zd.” Trial Tr. (May 7, 2001) at 169%. The resume was “targeted
cnly at the position that [he] was applying for at the time and
idrn’t nave any of [his] stuff in the last ten years on it.” Id.

IR oR
3

o

¢gne at the Press asked Evenson for an “update” of his resume,

VA
&3
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Zalemscn neld the clder workers to a higher standard than the more
creferred younger worxers. For example, the Justification claims
nat Chnarles Evenson would have to take a number of courses to get
LD tC speed” on “Webpage programming or the electronic transfer of
ta and images.” App. 147-48. Yet, Bethea had no idea whether

The much younger Rebecca Gimenez, who was retained in Evenson’s

marxeting department, had herself taken the courses, Trial Tr.
(May 8, 2301) at 141-42. In fact, Gimenez had not taken the
Tourses Trial Tr. (May 7, 2001) at 174-75. By the same tcken,

Tne Justification credits Gimenez for achievements that were not

tne “UW Press webpage.” App. 146, Yet, the Press
weppage nad been created before Gimenez began working at the Press.

ax Tr. {(May 7, 2001) at 170. Similarly, the Justification

e
LA
n
¢
4]

2s Gimenez for “upgradl[ing]” the webpage. App. 146. Gimene:z

did wor< on the upgrades but so did Evenson. Trial Tr. (May 7,
2221y av 170. The Justification omits any reference to Evenson’s
contripution. Id. at 171. Although discussing in detail the

sucresed deficlencles in training, experience, and skills of the

£

four charging parties, who had vast experience working at the
Press, the Justification does not have a single, critical thing to
say about any Press employee under the age of 40. Trial Tr. (May

o Ralal

5, 20G1 at 61.

10
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¥ore pointedly, the Justification uses code words, reflective

th

n age bias. The Justification refers to Charles Evenson as

9]

naving sxiils more suited to the “pre-electronic” era. App. 146.

Tne Justifilication assumes, without factual support, that the more

genior Zvenson would have to be brought “up to speed” on the “new
trends cf advertising via electronic means.” Id. at 146-48; see
a.s¢c Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 141 [testimony of David Bethea]

(ac«ncwledging that he simply assumed, in preparing the

Jusmifilcaticon, that Evenson had no experience with HTML
crogramming) . Bethea used similar terms when he pitched his
propesal for job cuts to the Press Committee. Bethea urged that

the Press in the past had not had the vision to be agile enough”
and tnat the terminations of the four charging parties would
improve tnat agility.” Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 136. Notably,
Bethea assumed the position of interim director of the Press after
ne naad authored a study that was highly critical of the prior
directcor, a man 1n nis 60's; Bethea believed that this man did not
f1t the new vision for the Press.” Id. at 127. There is evidence
that Bethea, as a general matter, assumed a positive correlation
Cetween youtn and effective job performance. Id. at 129-30.

Tnere 1s also evidence that Bethea and Salemson doctored the

b

acts and misled other UW officials in order to achieve the desired

Cuts in the Press staff. To begin with, the Justification, a post-

11
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c decument prepared to justify a decisicen already made, is
rigdied with factual inaccuracies and erroneous assumptions. For
example, tne Justification states with respect to Rosalie Robertson
trnat she did not have as much experience in acquiring books in the
Aumanities area as a vyounger individual in the acquisitions
department, Rapnhael Kadushin, who was not terminated. App. 143-44,
Kooertson, nowever, had “been publishing for 15 years in guite a
w areas, including all those [e.g., Humanities] that . . . this
younger editor was going to be handling.” Trial Tr. (May 7, 2001)
at 137-38. As 1t turns out, Kadushin had acquired only one
oublisned book in his brief, nine-month career in the acquisitions
Zepartment. Id.; Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 140-41, The
-ustification also states that Robertson could not be shifted into
tne Press’ editorial department because she lacked experience “in
cryediting manuscripts.” App. 144. In fact, Rcbertson had
extensive editing experience, Trial Tr. {(May 7, 2001) 128-31, 134,
14,

Similar misstatements are made with respect to the other
cnarging parties. The Justification states that Mary Braun could
nct assume the position of Carla Aspelmeier, a younger individual
retained in the Press’ production department, because Braun had “no
pac<ground in graphic arts or printing.” App. 145. In fact,

sspelmeler herself “did not have an education background in

12
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{2
(o
4]
]
(]

ner graphic arts and her previous publish[ing] experience

refore coming to the Press was in marketing, not in production or

e

18 or anytnling to do with design.” Trial Tr. {(May 7, 2001) at
Za3, Tne Justification asserts that Braun had limited editorial
exgerience when, in fact, her “skills as an editor” were
distinguished by the fact that she was the editor there and that
crie puklished with the Press because of her reputation as well.”
2. at l4l. With respect to Joan Strasbaugh, the Justification
clves to a deficiency in the “requisite technical skills” in
edlting and production. App. 151. Yet, Strasbaugh had recently

AL

peen chgsen “to oversee the editing and production of The World of

’

Hide Roy4s,” a hign profile book that the Press published for the

trade” bcox marxet. Trial Tr. (May 7, 2001) at 202, 217-26. The
custifliczation omits any reference to Strasbaugh’s “copyediting”
experlience and faults Strasbaugh for a supposed deficiency in
“electrenic skills” (App. 151) when, in fact, Strasbaugh had more

experience 1n that area than the younger individual, Rebecca

Gimenez, tc whom she was unfavorably compared. Trial Tr. (May 7,

20C1) at 202-04. The Justificaticon contains similar falsities with

-
-

M

spect to the comparative skills of Gimenez and Charles Evenson,

discussed above.

L)
n

in addition to misstatements with respect to the charging

carties, tne Justificaticn contains misleading information about

13
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wne Press’ financial condition. The Justificaticn states that the
Press wculd save 3238,000 by terminating the four charging parties.
App. 242, The actual savings were considerably lower, a fact that

was «nown tc Bethea at the time. Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 136-
37, 149 In nhis April 1999 meeting with the Press Committee,
Betnea claimed that the Press was suffering from a “$550,000 to
5803,32530 casnh flow deficit.” Supp. App. 3. The actual deficit was
, 203, Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 176-77,. Although the
ificartion asserts that “at this peint the only alternative
seems L0 be to retrench and reduce staff,” App. 139, the Press’ own
et projecticns revealed that “if the Press had continued to
expand its sales of books at the rate it was on course to do and to
expand tne number of titles as it was planning to do, profitability
wzu.d nhave pegun to return, that is the deficit would have started
“¢ snring at the latest within three vyears.” Trial Tr. (May 8,
223iy at 175, Bethea and Samuelson were made aware of these
eczTicns in late February 1999. Id. at 174-75.

n a similar vein, the Justification creates the impression
tnat it was the intention o¢of Bethea and Salemson to eliminate
cositicns in the Press as part of a cost-cutting reduction-in-
force. Yet, in a hand-written document, prepared in March 1999,
Betnea projected that the Press would hire “replacements” in the

acguisitions and marxeting departments once the individuals

14
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selected for the terminations were removed from the workforce.
Scpp. App. 7; Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 138-39, In a separate
dccument, dated March 18, 1999, Bethea and Salemson projected the
niring of a new acquisitions editor for the 2000-01 academic year.
Stupp App. 8; Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001} at 66-68. In December 1999,
cnly seven montns after the terminations, Bethea recommended to the

o

ssgriate deans 1n the Graduate School that the Press hire a new

o

r«eting directer and a new senlior acquisitions editor. Supp.

o

b
i$)
'

I-2; Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 137-38.

A5 1t turns out, the terminations of the four charging parties
resulted in a substantially younger workforce. The individuals
retained in similar positions at the Press were all younger than
tne fcur charging parties. The individual retained in the

acguiisitions department, Raphael Kadushin, was 46. App. 130; Trial

+4
LR

(tay 7, 2001) at 123. The two permanent employees retained in

S

rt

i

mar<eting department, Sheila Leary and Rebecca Gimenez, were 40
arnd 23, respectively. App. 130; Trial Tr. (May 7, 2001) at 176-77,.
Twe individuals were retained in the editorial department, Scott
_enz, age 45, and Juliet Skuldt, age 27. App. 130; Trial Tr. (May
7, 2001) at 168, Two individuals were also retained in the
croduction department, Terry Emmrich, age 39, and Carlia Aspelmeier,
age 36. App. 130; Trial Tr. (May 7, 2001) at 168, 187. Notably,

Gimenez, Lenz, Skuldt, and Aspelmeier had been hired in the months

I5
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treceding the terminations. Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 50-53.
Zalenmscn played a preominent role in those hires. Id.

Ine youtn movement was also reflected in the individuals hired
£y tne Press, at the direction of Bethea and Salemson, within the
montns irmmediately following the terminations. Id. at 50-60. Two
weexs after the terminations of Robertson and Braun in the
azguls.tions department, the Press hired Sheila McMahon into that
very same department. Id. at 54-5%5. McMahon was 24 or 25. Id. at
ne Press renewed and extended the contract of Susan Jevens in
“ne marxketing department, who assumed the job duties of Joan
trasbaugh. Id. at 55-56; Trial Tr. (May 7, 2001) at 209. Jevens
was In her twenties or thirties. Id. The Press hired three other
individual into the marxeting department, Nienke Wijnia, who was in
ner early thirties, Will Morgan, who was “[a]round 30,” and Jenny
efert, wno was 25. Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 56-58.

Az trial, the Commissicon urged that UW had terminated the four

were creating for the future of the Press,” a vision that was
designed “to get rid of the older” workers. Trial Tr. (May 7,

2021y at 90-95. The evidence supported the Commission’s theory.

r1]
ry

or example, Salemson testified that he was brought in as Associate

9]

t

ectcr to “develop policies and direction (a vision) to prepare

@]

ot

ne Press for the 21° century.” App. 128; Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001)

16
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at £3-Z4. Salemson admitted that the younger individuals hired in
monins preceding the terminations of the charging parties were

zf that “wvision.” Id. at 54. Likewise, Salemson admitted
nat the younger individuals hired after the terminations of the
cnarging parties were part of the “new vision.” Id. at 58.
Salemscn was unable to explain how the charging parties would have
fi7 irntz tnhat new vision. Id. at 94.

Salenson’s admissions were echoed by Bethea. Bethea admitted
Y, at the time he was proposing to terminate the four charging
carties, ne was already looking for “replacements.” Id. at 138.
Betnea testifled that these replacements would fit the Press’ “new
wisice.”  Id. at 138-38., As Bethea put it, “Okay, yeah. We were
-- Yes, I was asxing that if the, you know, legal hurdles could be,
ccuid pe jumped that it would be good for us to hire new people in
trnese pesitions.” Id. at 139. Bethea ceonceded that “[tlhose legal

nurdles included the Age Discrimination Act.” Id.

cfficials, carried out the terminations with little or no regard
for the pronibitions of the ADEA., Salemson testified that, at the
time of tne terminations, he was “unaware that {the] law protects
cecple 40 and older.” 1Id. at 49. ™“No cone at the Graduate School”
nad ever “told [him] about that.” Id. at 49-50. Nor had he been

giver any "“formal training at any time from the UW, the Graduate

17
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ScncoLl, the Academic Personnel Office, anyone in regard tce the Age
Act.” Id. at 53. Bethea testified that he had not “undergone any
“raining in EEO laws” during his career at UW, that he had no idea
wne nad “primary responsibility for EEQC compliance” at the Press,
tnat ne nad never been “evaluated on [his] knowledge or compliance

”

witnh EEOC law at any time,” that the Press had never “examine(d] its
cec.icies regarding age discrimination during {his] time there,” and
Z, at the time of the terminations, he “had no idea that the law
started to protect them at age 40.” Id. at 128-29. Ann Marie
cley, the self-styled “campus layoff expert,” asserted that she

zarefully vetted the proposed terminations to ensure that they were

“ceonslistent witnh the University’s practice and policies.” Id. at

~53-53. She admitted, however, that she did not “conduct an
examination c¢f [the proposed terminations] to see if age
2iscrimination was involved.” Id. at 155-56. Similarly, Mareda R.

s =*ne Associate Dean for Administration at UW’s Graduate
nzsl, admitted that she “never investigated to see whether age
discrimination was invelved in this case” and “did not know at the
time . . . that the age of protection under the Age Discrimination
1n Erployment Act is 40.” Id. at 180, 187. Weiss was responsible
or “budget and personnel” matters at the Graduate School and was
irnvoived 1in reviewing the proposed terminations of the charging

varcties. Id. at 180, 182. Finally, Dean Virginia Hinshaw, who was

18
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invclved in reviewing the terminations in her capacity as Dean of
wne Graduate School, admitted that she did not check into the
“guailfications” of the charging parties, did noct “check on the
ages of the people let go and the people staying in place,” and did
noU AROW at tne time “at what age people become protected under the
5." Trial Tr. (May 7, 2001} at 252, 269,

Cw cffered a number of defenses for the terminations. Uw
clalmed, Zfor example, that the terminations were necessary as a

cost-~cutting reduction-in-force. Trial Tr. (May 7, 2001) at 106-

3

N Tar

‘er, there was compelling evidence that it was the intention

€

Fh

Zetnea and Salemscon, all aleng, to replace the charging parties.

[

Sipp. App. 1-2, 7-8; Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 66-68, 138-39. 1In

v

similar velin, UW argued, on the basis of the Justification
crerared by Betnea and 3Salemson, that the charging parties were

deficient in sxills and experience, as compared to the younger

b

rndividials retained at the Press. App. 136-51. There was
dant evidence, however, that the Justification was factually
lraccurarte and that the two decision-makers merely assumed, without
«ncwing, that younger employees working at the Press possessed the
s«ills and experience supposedly found wanting in the charging

arcies. See supra pp. 10-13. UW also argued that some of the

o

youinger employees retained at the Press were not similarly situated

10 The charging partlies -- insomuch as they worked in different
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departments of the Press (editorial and production} -- and that the
crnarging parties could nect ke shifted into those departments
rzecause “eacn of the departments within the Press is highly
speciasized, and movement of staff between departments is extremely
App. 142; Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) 14-16. Yet, there was
—estimony, from UW's own decision-maker, Salemson, that “the whole

Press 1s not tnat large, so we tend to work, you know, pretty much

witnh everybedy, you know, over the course of a week in some
respect.” Trial Tr. (May 7, 2001) at 284-85; see also id. at 244-
4% {testimony of Mary Braun] (explaining that, contrary to the

szatement made in the Justification, there was a great deal of
"mcverment between departments at the Press”). On the damages
1ssue, UW urged that the charging parties failed to put forth “good
faiznh” effcorts to secure alternative employment. Trial Tr. (May 9,
Cly az 13-14. Yet, each of the charging parties did find new
cos and there was extensive evidence adduced at the damages phase
with respect to thelr mitigation efforts. Id. at 15-24, 40-50, 75-
;. 28-10¢6. There was also evidence, from a Commission expert,
supporting the amounts of back and front pay claimed by the
CZemmission, Id. at 113-24.

Hone of UW's arquments carried the day in the district court.

The district court, on three separate occasions, denied UW' s motion

cr Judgment as a matter of law. The jury returned verdicts in the

20
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r

Ccmmissicn’'s favor and awarded damages in accordance with the

Toomissicn’s evidence,

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Commission’s sult agalinst UW 1s not barred by the Eleventh
Amendment. The Supreme Court has made repeatedly clear that the
Zleventn amendment 1s a bar to private lawsuits against State

deferdants. It does not apply to suits brought by an agency of the

C
Y
t
(B
14
3
[#3]
ot

ates government.
Tnere is sufficient evidence to support the jury verdicts of
uniawiful discrimination in the terminations of the four charging

ies. The evidence shows that the Justification for the

ot
D
4
i
23
[N
tt
b

ions 1s a post-hoc document that is riddlied with factual
errcrs.  The Justification makes unfounded assumpticns concerning
tne superior s=xills of the younger individuals retained at the
Press and uses age-tainted code words in referring to the charging
carzles. There 1is also evidence that the two decisicon-makers
misied UW officials with respect teo the facts purportedly

supporting the terminations and that the decision-makers planned

&

ng to nire replacements for the charging parties despite
claiming at the time that the terminations were designed to cut
ccsts by eliminating positions 1in the Press. The employees
retained at the Press, in lieu of the charging parties, were all

Jounger tnan the charging parties. A number of younger individuals

21
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were nired, in the months immediately following the terminations,
LnTc tne very same departments that had been previously occupied by
Trhe gcrarging parties.,

inere 1s also sufficient evidence to support the jury’s
finding tnat JW acted willfully in unlawfully terminating the
empl;"men: of the four charging parties. The principal decision-
waxer, Bethnea, admitted that he wanted to bring in replacements for
Tne Chnarging parties who fit the Press’ “new vision.” He knew,
nowever, tnat “legal hurdles,” such as the ADEA, would have to be
Altaough he xnew enough about the ADEA to see it as a
d.e tnat nad to be “jumped,” neither he nor Salemson had any EEO
training and neither man had any idea when the protections of the

AZEA <icxed 1n. This is also true of the UW officials who reviewed

ot

1
(D
]

erminations, wno were largely igncrant of the ADEA's
grotecticns and did not, in any event, make any attempt to
inestigate wihetner the terminaticns of the charging parties, the
four oldest individuals working in their respective departments,
were age-based.

The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying
JW's motion for a new trial. Assuming that there is sufficient
avidence to support the jury verdicts, thus precluding judgment as

a matter of law in UW's favor, there is no basis for a new trial.

Trne trial was eminently fair and the damage award was supported by

22
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zostantial evidence. Finally, the district court did not err in
awarding tne Commission, as prevailing party, the travel and
depcsition costs of the five non-party witnesses.

STANDARD QF REVIEW

“# argues that the Commissicn’s suit is barred by the Eleventh
fZmendrment., This 1s a legal issue subject to de novo consideration

in thnis CZourt. See Cherry v, University of Wisconsin Sys. Bd. of

Regerts, 265 F.3d 541, 547 (7% Cir. 2001). UW also contends that
wry werdicts on liability and willfulness are not supported by

tne evidence and, thus, that the district court erred in denying

-

UW's mecrion for judgment as a matter of law. This Court reviews a
denla. cof motion for judgment as a matter of law de novo. See

sneeran v, Donlen Corp., 173 F.34 1039, 1043 (7' Cir. 1999).

LI o

{2 warrant judgment as a matter of law because of legal

insuificiency of evidence, there must have been ‘no legally

suffizient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find for the
nen-moving party.’” Id. {(quoting Payne v, Milwaukee County, 146
=.3d 4306, 432 (77 Cir. 1998)). This Court has made clear that

“"falttacxing a jury verdict is a hard row to hoe” and that a court
"will not disturb the jury verdict unless [the Appellant]) can show
that ‘no rational jury could have brought in a verdict against

tiv!.’" 173 F.3d at 1043 (quoting EEOC v. G-K-G, Inc., 39 F.3d 740,

45 (77 Cir. 1994)). This Court's inguiry “‘is limited to whether

23



Case 1:05-cv-00208 Document 20  Filed 05/24/2005 Page 58 of 101

rt

ne evidence presented, combined with all reasonable inferences
cermissipbly drawn therefrom, is sufficient to support the verdict
whern viewed in the light mest favorable to the party against whom

tne mcticn is directed.’” 173 F.3d at 1043 (quoting Emmel v. Coca-

Cola Borrling Co, of Chicagg, 95 F.3d 627, 629 (7 Cir. 1996)).

Jw aiso contends that the district court erred in denying UW’'s
moticen for a new trial., This Court reviews the denial of a motion
cr a new trial for “‘clear abuse of discretion.’” Hasham v.

—~

Ca.ifcrnia State Bd. of Egualization, 200 F.3d 1035, 1052 (7" Cir.

2222} (guoting Emmel, 95 F.3d at 636). Finally, UW urges that the
aistrict court erred in awarding travel and deposition costs for
tne Cemmission’s witnesses. This ruling is also subject to

ar. apuse c¢f discretion standard of review. See Martin v. City of

—ndlanapeciis, 192 F.3d 608, 614 (7' Cir. 1999).

ARGUMENT

A. The Commissicn’s Suit Is Not Barred By The Eleventh
Amendment

Jw begins its brief with an argument that it did not raise
beilow. Specifically, it contends that the Commission’s suit is
carred by the principle of sovereign immunity embodied in the
Zleventnh Amendment to the United States Constitution. See UW Br.

at 15-13, JUW 1s correct that the immunity issue, although not

24
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tecnnicalilly jurisdictional, can be taken up for the first time on

apceal. See Edelman wv. Jordan, 415 U.S. 651, 677-78 (1974);

¥ovacevicn v. Kent State Univ.,, 224 F.3d 806, 816 (6t Cir. 2000);

2eggins v, Mississippi, 217 F.3d 951, 953-54 (7' Cir. 2000). Uuw

1s alsc ceorrect that “suits by private individuals” under the ADEA
ajalnst a State defendant are barred by the FEleventh Amendment.

¥imei: v. Florida Bd. of Regents, 528 U.S. 62, 91 (2000). UW’ s

argurent, nowever, that this bar extends to lawsuits brought by the

crmissicon, an  agency of the United States government, is

' h
[®]
1
1
[

closed by Supreme Court precedent.

In Semincle Tribe of Florida v. Florida, 517 U.S. 44, 47

(1222}, the Supreme Court breathed new life into the Eleventh
Amendrment, nolding that despite Congress’ clear intent in the
ndlan  Gaming Regulatory Act to abrogate States’ sovereign
immanity, States retained their immunity from private lawsuits
under that Act. In reaching this conclusion, the Court made clear
» Eleventn Amendment immunity notwithstanding, “([t]he Federal
Sovernment can bring suit in federal court against a State” as a

metncd Vof ensuring the States’ compliance with federal law.” Id.

a7 71 n.l4 (citing United States v. Texas, 143 U.S. 621, 644-45

(1532)). The Court repeated that principle in Alden v. Maine, 527

#53

706, 754 (199%9), in holding that States “retain|ed] immunity

from private suit” under the Fair Laber Standards Act. The Court
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pcintedly observed that, “[i]ln ratifying the Ccnstitution, the

States consented to suits brought by other States or by the Federal

Scvernamenc.” Id. at 755 (emphasis added). The Court stressed that
a "suit wnich 1s commenced and prosecuted against a State in the
rame cof the United States . . . differs in kind from the suit of an
individzal.” Id. In Kimel, the Court did not explicitly address
tne suit authority of the federal government. The Court stressed,
ncrnetneless, that its decision did “not signal the end of the line
for employees who find themselves subject to age discrimination at
the nands of theilr state employers” because the Court’s helding
meant “only that, in the ADEA, Congress did not validly abrogate

the States’ sovereign immunity to suits by private individuals.”

J.85. at 91 (emphasis added). Finally, in Board of Trustees of

tone Univ., gf Alabama v. Garrett, 531 U.S. 356 (2001), the Court, in

ing tnat Title I of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA")
ot  abrogate States’ sovereign immunity, reiterated that the

eventn Amendment immunity principle was not a bar to a lawsuit by

rt

ne federal government. As the Court explained:

r nolding here that Congress did neot validly abrogate the
ates’ soverelgn immunity from suit by private individuals
r meney damages under Title I does not mean that persons
with disabilities have no federal recourse agalinst
discrimination. Title I cf the ADA still prescribes standards
piicable to the States. Those standards can be enforced by
e United States in actions for money damages, as well as by
ivate individuals in actions for injunctive relief under Ex
carte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908).
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ict surprisingly, the cne circuit court to address the issue,
in tne waise of these Supreme Court pronguncements, has agreed that
ieventn Amendment does not bar an ADEA suit by the Commission

azainst a State defendant. In EEOC v. Kentucky Retirement Svs.,

2501 WL 887433 (6" Cir. Aug. 2, 2001),® the State argued, on the
tasls ¢of Ximel, that the Commission’s ADEA suit was barred by the
ilevertnh Amendment. The Sixth Circuit disagreed, holding that
eventn Amendment immunity applies only to private lawsuits
agalinst State defendants and does not in any way limit the suit
rignts of tnhe Commission, as an agency of the United States. Id.
at **3-3. The Court cited the longstanding principle that “‘States
retalrn ne sovereign immunity as against the Federal Government.’”

at *4 (queting West Virginia v. United States, 479 U.S. 305,

222 n.4 (1387)). The court stressed that the Commission has the
aztncrity to sue in its own name to “enforce the rights of
emclosyees wino have been subjected to unlawful age discrimination.”
ia. at 4. In the court’s view, although a suit brought by the
cnarging parties themselves “would be barred by the Eleventh

the Immunity principle did not bar a suit by the

A copy of this decision i1s included in the Commissiocn’s
uppiemental Appendix, which is attached as an addendum to this
prief.

N
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lon, as the federal agency "charged by Congress to enforce
ne ADEA’s pronibition against discriminatory employment practices

cased cn age.” Id.; see also EEOC v, Karuk Tribe Housing Auth.,

i4 1271, 1075 (9 Cir. 2001) (“‘just as a state may not
assert scverelgn Immunity as against the federal government,
neither may an Indian tribe;’” no distinction, for these purposes,
cetween the Commission and “the United States itself,” since the

Commissicn “is an entity created by Congress and is specifically

o1}
3

stncrized by statute to enforce the ADEA”) .

Jw concedes that there may be “circumstances” in which the
Urnited States may “sue the states for money damages.” UW Br. at
% argues, nowever, that the United States may do so “only
where 1t 1s using a statute, such as the ADA or ADEA to seek to

attern of intentional discrimination on behalf of the

'y
[3¢]
i
m
{2
."-
W
e

=3. ar 13 (citing United States of Am. v. Mississippi Dep’'t of

is

Diic Safety, 159 F. Supp. 24 374 (S.D. Miss. 2001)). Thus, UW

draws a distinction, for Eleventh Amendment purposes, between cases

n wnich the Commission sues to redress a pattern of discrimination

b

nd cases In which the Commission sues to redress individual acts

i

L]

discrimination.

@]

The distinction drawn by UW finds no support in the Supreme

Ccurt’s Eleventh Amendment jurisprudence. The immunity principle
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is inapplicable to suits brougnt by the federal government because
~rne States “consented” to such suits in  “[r]atifying the
crnstituticn.” Alden, 527 U.S. at 755. That blanket consent,
wnlchi  is  “inherent in  the constitutional plan,” Monaco wv.

Mississivel, 292 U.S. 313, 329 {1934), is not limited to cases in

wnlicn tne federal government seeks to redress a “pattern” of
iliegal conduct, UW Br. at 18. It was the “fear of private suits
against nonconsenting States” that prompted “the Founders” to
rreserve the States’ sovereign immunity.” Alden, 527 U.S. at 756.
Lilts breougnt by the United States itself” are different because
~hey Tregulire tne exercise of pelitical responsibility for each
w1t prosecuted against a State, a control which is absent from a
tread delegation to private persons to sue nonconsenting States.”
4. Simpiy put, when an agency of the federal government, such as
~re Tgommission, chooses to bring suit against a State defendant in
“"exercise of political responsibkbility,” that exercise of suit

authority falls beyond the reach of the Eleventh Amendment,

irrespective of the scope of the unlawful conduct redressed by the

In a similar wvein, UW cocntends that the Eleventh Amendment

appiles in this case because the Commission “stands in the shoes of

rt
)
6]

four individuals and acts 1n privity with them as their

by

epresentative.” UW Br. at 17. This Court has recognized, in
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certain contexts, that the Commission is in privity with the
individuals for whom it seexs relief in its ADEA actions. See EEOC

7. weretn Gibson Sch. Corp., 266 F.3d 607, 616 (7' Cir. 2001); EEOC

Harris Cnernin, inc., 10 F.3d 1286, 1290-91 (7% Cir. 1993).

That principle, however, does not support UW’s claim of immunity.
It merely limits the Commission to a claim for injunctive relief in
zases in which the charging party, by his own actions, has
disgualified nimself from recovering monetary damages in a

Ccmmission action. See North Gibson, 266 F.3d at 617-21

(Cemmission limited to a claim for broad injunctive relief where
tne cnarging party filed an untimely charge of discrimination);

Harris Chernin, 7 F.3d at 1290-91 (Commission limited to a claim

fcr pread injunctive relief where the charging party filed an
untimely lawsuit). U4 is not arguing that the Commission is
iimited to a claim for injunctive relief.® It is arguing that the
crmission's suit is barred outright by the Eleventh Amendment.
ne Eleventh Amendment is not concerned with the “relief sought by

g plaintiff.” Seminole Tribe, %17 U.S., at 58. It is concerned

* If this were in fact UW’s argument, the argument would be
waived, since it was never raised in the district court. See
Lrendt v. Vetta Sports, Inc., 99 F.3d 231, 237 (7*" Cir. 1996).
ALTAOUgN A4 party can ralse an immunity argument for the first
ime on appeal, this is not an immunity argument; it 1is merely an
argument that would impose scme limitation on the remedial scope
of the Commission’s lawsuit.

ot
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witln the “'indignity of subjecting a State to the coercive process
of dudicial tribunals at the 1nsistence of private parties.’” Id.
Because tne (Commission, not a private party, has brought this
~aW3Ull LN the proper exercise of its statutory authority, there is

no basis for applying Eleventh Amendment immunity.

kel

s it turns out, the Supreme Court, in an analogous context,

jai}

s rejected tne very proxy, or “stand in the shoes,” theory now

zavanced by JW. In Kansas v. Colorado, 121 §. Ct. 2023 (2001), the
Szate defendant argued that a suit brought by another State was

rred py the Eleventh Amendment. The defendant acknowledged that

o
i

4
3)]

State may reccover monetary damages from another State in an
criginal action, without running afoul of the Eieventh Amendment.”
3. at 2327. The defendant urged, hcwever, that the suit was
tarred by the Eleventh Amendment because the State plaintiff was
meraly seexing reccvery for “losses sustained by individual water
users in Fansas.” Id. at 2328. The Supreme Court disagreed. The
Court found that the State had not entered the controversy “‘as a

ncminal party in order to forward the c¢laims of individual

citizens.'” Id. The State had filed the lawsult in its own name

nd nad “been in full control of [the] litigation since its
incepticn.” 1d. The Court stressed that “[w]lhen a State properly
invokes our Jurisdiction to seek redress for a wrong perpetrated

against it by a sister State, neither the measure of damages that
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we ultimately determine to be proper nor our method for calculating
Thtse damages can retrospectively negate our jurisdiction.” Id.
icr would the court’s jurisdiction be affected by the State’s
restivdgment decisions concerning the use of the meney recovered

rr

from wne [defendant], since it 1s the State’s prerogative to use

tre proceeds of the suit “to ‘benefit those who were hurt.’” Id.

in this case, the Commission is no “nominal party.” The
Ccrmission filed the lawsuilt in its own name, as authorized by the
AZZA. It has controlled the litigation from the inception,
crnsistent with the fact that Congress gave the Commission the

wniy nand in the enforcement of the age-discrimination law.” G-K-

5, Inc., 33 F.3d at 745. The Commission charged UW with multiple,
willful wviolations of the ADEA and sought ligquidated damages for

tncse violations, damages that are, at least in part, “punitive in

nature, thus serving a broader public purpose. Trans World

Alrlires, Imc. v. Thurston, 469 .5, 111, 125-26 (1985). That the

charging parties will receive a monetary benefit from the
Cecmmission’s sult does not bring the suit within the Eleventh
Amendment bar.

The Supreme Court has made repeatedly clear that the Eleventh
Amendment is not a bar to a suit brought by an agency of the

federal government. UW's attempt to limit the Commission’s ADEA
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uit autnority, by reference to the Eleventh Amendment, is without

g, Tnere Is Sufficient Evidence To Support The Jury Verdicts
Of Unlawful Discrimination

Jw next argues that the Commission “failed to produce
ustantial evidence to support the jury verdicts of willful age
crimination.” UW Br. at 19. Although it is unclear from UW’'s
crief, Lt appears that UW 1is challenging both the findings of
liabillity (unlawful discrimination) embodied in the jury verdicts
g tne separate findings of willfulness. We respond first to the

iilability issue.

Contrary to UW's assertien (UW Br. at 21), this is not a case
in wnhicn the Commission relied on nothing more than “its own
crpinisn cr the belief of the charging parties.” To begin with, the
crincipal document relied upon by UW, the Justification, is an
erntire:y post-noc document. The evidence shows that, as early as
Marcn 1339, Bethea and Salemson had decided to terminate the four
cnmarging parties. Bethea and Salemson were asked, by other UW
sfficials, to provide a written justification for the terminaticns.

They completed tne Justification in late April 1999, basing their
assessment of the comparative skills of the charging parties on
materials (e.g., resumes) that were not before them at the time

tney finalized thelr list of individuals to be terminated. See
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supra oo. 8-9. Tnis 1s precisely the type of “after the fact”

sustification that supports a finding of pretext. Futrell v, J.T.

Cage, 33 F.3d 342, 349 (7" Cir. 1994).
Zut thnis 1s just the tip of the iceberg. The Justificaticn is
riddled with factual inaccuracies and misstatements. The

ification makes a number of errors in cataloguing the supposed
eflclencies 1n the comparative skills and experience of the
cnarglngy parties. The Justification <contains misleading
infcrmation about the Press’ financial condition. The
custiflicaticn creates the false impression that it was the
intenticn of Bethea and Salemson to eliminate positions in the
Press as part of a cost-cutting reduction-in-force. In fact, it
was tnelr intention, all along, to replace the charging parties

w

witn individuals who were a closer £fit with the Press' new
wisicn. ee supra pp. 14-17. These points support “the

‘suspicion of mendacity’ which can by itself sustain a finding of

intenticral discrimination.” Wichmann v. Bd. of Trustees of

Scutnern Il1linois Univ., 180 F.3d 791, 803 (7'®" Cir. 1998) (evidence

snowed that employer lied about the claimant’s position being
eliminated as part of a reduction-in-force and manipulated the

bcoxs to maxe the financial deficit, supposedly supporting the

termination, larger than it was), vacated on other grounds, 528

ToEL 1111 (2000) .
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Tne Justification also betrays an age bias. The Justification
assumes, without foundaticn, that the charging parties were
deficient In the new, electronic technologies. The Justification
assumes, without foundation, that the younger comparators were
vroficient 1n tnese technologies. See supra pp. 9-10. “It is the
very essence of age discrimination for an older employee to be
red Dpecause the employer believes that productivity and

cmpetence decline with old age.” Hazen Paper Co. v. Biggins, 507

©.8. 524, 610 (1993). The Justification, moreover, uses age code
woras, referring to Evenson’s skills in particular, as more suited
cre-electronic” era. App. 146. Although Bethea later
admltted that nhe was unsure abcocut the extent of Evenson’s
experience witn computer technologies, see supra p. 11, the
Justification states, as fact, that Evenson would have to be
up te speed” on the “new trends of advertising via
e.ectronic means.” App. 146-48. These terms, although not
recessarily 1indicative of an age bias, can, together with other
evidence, support a finding of age discrimination. Futrell, 38
.34 at 347-48 (decision-maker’s statement that individual was not
a “forward encugh thinker,” or “was unwilling or unable to ‘adapt’
to new systems in the department,” can support a finding that the
decision-maker “harbored unfavorable views of older workers”).

The Justification aside, there is additional evidence cof age
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cizs. In the menths immediately preceding the terminations of the
cmarging parties, Salemson had hired a number of individuals into
“re Press. These individuals were younger than the charging
cartles. Tnese individuals were retained in their positions when
tne c¢narging parties, the oldest individuals (other than the
decisicn-maxers) working in the Press’ book division, were fired.

See supra pp. 15-16. One of these younger individuals was Rebecca

, age 23. Bethea admitted that he hated to lose Gimenez
cecause sne was a “"highly sxilled young woman.” Trial Tr. (May 8,
Z22720) at 138, In the months immediately following the
terminaticns, Bethea and Salemson hired a number of individuals
inte  thne acquisitieons and marketing departments, the very
devartrments previously occupied by the charging parties. The new

nlres were in thelir twenties and thirties.’ See supra p. 16.

In addition to these younger hires, the Press hired two
individuals who were in their “early to mid forties” and “mid
fifties,” respectively. Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 76. Those
individuals, however, were hired after charges cof age
discrimination had been filed with the Commission. Id. at 79-81.
Jne was nlred after the Commission filed suit and one shortly
efcre tne Commission filed suit. Id. See Greene v. Safeway
res, Inc., 98 F.3d 554, 561 (10" Cir. 1996) (older
epiacement can be disregarded where “the circumstances would
reascnably support an inference” that the replacement was hired

5 "a defense against {an) age discrimination c¢laim”); Johnson v.
cedyear Tire & Rubber Co., 491 F.2d 1364, 1376 n.36 (5% Cir.
1974) (acts taxken “'‘in the face of litigation’” should be viewed

ith sxepticism); Howard C. Eglit, Agqe Discrimination 7.18, at 7-
102 o 7-133 (2d ed. 1895) (makes sense to disregard older
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In reviewing the sufficiency of evidence “after a trial on the
merlts,

tne Court considers whether “the totality of the evidence

o

[

ts a verdict of intentional discrimination.” Sheehan, 173

%}
Y
3
'

F.3d at 13043, If there are conflicting versions of the events,
eazn oI wnich could have been accepted by the jury, the reviewing

court does not substitute its judgment for the jury’'s. See Hybert

L1

sarsy Corp., 900 F.2d 1050, 1054 (7' Cir. 1990). Instead, the

8]
£y

urt as<s, “[t]axing the facts as a whole,” whether a reascnable
Jury cculd nave inferred unlawful discrimination. Futrell, 38 F.3d

W

333, faxing the facts as a whole,” the Commission’s case

a8

easl.y clears the sufficiency threshold. See generally Wichmann,

.34 at 800-03 (evidence sufficient to sustain a jury verdict

ci uniawful age discrimination); Futrell, 38 F.3d at 348-50 (same);

"y
LA

ce -v, Marshall Erdman & Assocs., 966 F.2d 320, 322-23 (7" Cir.

~2%Z) (same); EEOC v. Century Broadcasting Corp., 957 F.2d 144¢,

EE-37 (7 Cir. 1992) (same); Hybert, 900 F.2d at 1054 (same).

YW argues that the Commission’s case fails because, to make

Q

ut a "prima facie case” of discrimination, “there must be a
difference of at least ten vears between the employee laid off and

tne erployee retained.” UW Br. at 22-23. But it is too late in

cement in a situation where the replacement “is hired in an
T o maxe the defendant's employment practices lock better
ert a tahreatened discrimination suit”).
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tne day to be quibbling over the prima facie case. “Once the
plaintiff prevalls before the jury, the method of proof at trial is
lrre_evant.” HWichmann, 180 F.3d at 800. On “post-trial review,

wnetner Pialntiff’s case is based on direct or indirect evidence,

the McDhornell Douglas framework drops out of the analysis and we

neeZ cnly ccnsider whether the record supports the resolution as to
“ne u.timate question of intenticonal discrimination. Hasham, 200
L34 oan 1044, “[O]lnce the case has been decided on the merits,”

Zne Iccus 1s no lenger on the elements of the plaintiff’s “prima

facie case.” Dadian v. Village of Wilmette, 269 F.3d 831, 837 (7
Cir. 2301). “After trial, the 1issue becomes whether the jury’s
erdlct 1s against the welgnt of the evidence, with the focus being

cn wrnether there was sufficient evidence on the ultimate question

cf discriminaticn.” Id. (citing United States Postal Serv. Bd. of

Zcrerngrs v, Alikens, 460 U.S. 711, 714-15 (1983)).

urtner, establishing a l10-year age differential between the
clalmzant and an individual treated more favorably is not an
immutable element of a plaintiff’s ADEA case. The ADEA prohibits

iscrimination “because of” age. 29 U.5.C. 623(a) (1). In some

0

ases, 1t may be necessary to show that the claimant was treated
less favorably than a “substantially younger” individual, i.e.,
scmegne at least 10 years younger than the claimant, in order to

raise an 1nference that the adverse action was “because of” age.
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In zther cases, such procf will not be required. The circumstances
may suppert an inference of discrimination gquite apart from the age

of any comparator. ee Hartley v. Wisconsin Bell, Inc., 124 F.3d

BET, B33 (7" Cir. 1997) (age of replacement is not determinative
wnere evidence otherwise “reveals the employer’s decision to be
.ctlvated by the plaintiff’s age”).

A 5imple hypothetical 1llustrates the point. A manager
decides that ne must make cuts in a particular division. The
arager wants to get rid of the cldest workers in the division. He
decildes to maxe four cuts and, thus, terminates the employment of
~he Iour oldest workers 1in the division. There is no doubt that

Tne marager nas terminated these four workers “because of” age; the

woirkers were let go because they were the oldest workers. This is
Trie regardless of the age of the workers retained in the division.

Scre ¢ tncse retained may be close in age to the four workers cut.
Ut sC wnat? The manager drew the line at four cuts and took out
~ne cidest worxkers.

As 1t turns out, this hypothetical is this case. Bethea and
Salemson decided to terminate the employment of four individuals.
Trney cnose to cut the four oldest workers under circumstances that
are suggestive of pretext and age bias. That cne of the younger
worxers retained, Raphael Kadushin, was close in age to the workers

terminated (JUW Br. at 23) is beside the point. Kadushin was also
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censidered for termination. Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 132. It
Bectrea and Salemson had made deeper cuts, Kadushin may have been
Tne next one to go. Id. at 73-75, 132. The Commission’s case is

nctT defeated by the fact that UW chose to cut four, rather than

five, employees.

-

Additionally, this is not a simple “replacement” case, with a
sirngle zIaimant and a single replacement hired from the outside.
Trnis 15 a case wnhere several employees were terminated and their
respcnsibilities “‘absorbed by other employees’” or by replacements
sugnt in from the outside. Wichmann, 180 F.3d at B02. 1In such

LI

a case, someé inference of discrimination may flow from the
retenticn and promotion of younger employees,” particularly where

furngipility among jobs’” is demenstrated. Id. (quoting Gadsby v.

norwaig Furniture Cerp., 71 F.3d 1324, 1331-32 (7% Cir. 1995)).

In =his case, Robertson (age 50) and Braun (age 46) were
terminated from the acquisitions department. Two weeks later, the
Fress nlred Sheila McMahon, age 24 or 25, into the acquisitions
department. See supra p. 16. Joan Strasbaugh, age 47, was
terminated from ner positicn as assistant marketing manager. Her
Zob responsibilities were assumed by Susan Jevens, who was in her
wwernties or thirties, and whose contract was renewed and extended
snortly after Strasbaugh’s termination. See id. Charles Evenson,

age 54, was terminated from his position as senior marketing
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speclallist. Among the 1individuals retained in the marketing
devartment was Rebecca Gimenez, age 23, the “young” individual who
nad sc  impressed Bethea. See supra pp. 1, 15-le6. Other
indiwviduais, in tneilr twenties or thirties, were brought inte the
atcuisitions and marketing departments and still other individuals,
m.Cn younger than the charging parties, were retained in the
edltorial and production departments. See supra pp. 15-16.

Z¥W ccntends that the Commission has not shown that the younger
irnaividuals nired or retalned were “similarly situated” to the
crarsing parties, as required to establish a prima facie case. UW

Br. at 24-25. But, again, it is too late in the day to be arguing

O

ver tne prima facie case. In any event, it is not true that the
Termission "made absolutely no effort to present any evidence that
tne emplicyees retained or those hired later possessed analogous
attriputes, experience, education or qualifications.” Id. at 24.
For cne thing, UW itself plainly viewed the charging parties as
similarly situated to several of the younger individuals retained
by the Press. The Justification, at scme length, draws comparisons

between tne cnarging parties and the other individuals working at

(8

-

'Y

ress. Thus, the Justification discusses the relative skills

cf Evenson and Gimenez, both of whom worked in the marketing

Q.

epartment. App. 145-47. The Justification discusses the relative

sxiils of Robertson and Kadushin, both of whom worked in the

4]
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zgulsizions department. Id. at 143-44. The Justification

Y]

discusses the relative skills of Braun, in acquisitions, and Carla
Aspelmeler, a younger individual retained in the Press’ production
department. Id. at 145. Of course, in each case, UW retained the
vounger individual, But it 1is clear, from the Justification

~%, tnat UW viewed these individuals as being in the same

fore generally, there 1s evidence of a “fungibility” among the
zs In the Press’ four departments (acquisitions, marketing,
edlivorial, and production). Wichmann, 180 F.3d at 802. Salemscn
aazmitted that everybody at the Press tended to work “pretty much
witn evervbody” else. Trial Tr. (May 7, 2001) at 284-85. There
was 2.50 a goocd deal of “movement between departments.” Id. at
244-43 Strasbaugh, for example, was splitting duties between

acgulisitions and marketing, while both Robertson and Braun, in

atguisitions, nad extensive editing experience. See supra pp. 12-
»3, 2T. The Justification provides further support for this view,

since its comparative skills assessment groups together employees
frem all four departments. App. 147.

Firally, the younger individuals hired in the aftermath of the

cceupled by the charging parties, UW makes much of the fact that

scme  ¢f these individuals were hired into a different job
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crassification, as “limited term employees.” UW Br. at 27. But
“an employer cannot avoid liability for intentional discrimination
v the 'simple expedient’ of changing job titles.” Wichmann, 180

F.3d4 at 8J3 (quoting Riordan v. Kempiners, 831 F.2d 690, 699 (7t

Cir. 1387)). Salemson acxnowledged that these younger individuals

were nired as part of the “new vision” that he was charged with

irp.ementing, and Bethea conceded that it was his plan all along to
nire “replacements” for the charging parties. See supra pp. 16-17.

nese points aside, UW's brief 1s a series of ad hominem
attac«s on the Commission’s case. UW, for example, states that
“.tlnere is absolutely no evidence that the two decision makers did
T genulrely believe the reasons they presented” for the
cerminations. JW Br. at 26. There is evidence, however, that

trnese men fudged the facts, doctored the numbers, plotted to

a custification for the terminations after-the-fact. UW accuses
tne Ccmmissicn of “bhet{ting] its case on the fact that the jury
would buy the [Commission’s] ‘new vision’ argument and ignore the

£

facts.” Id. at 27. The phrase “new vision,” however, was not

Wy

simpiy a slecgan’ injected by the [Commission’s] Counsel at
wrial.” Id. at 28. It was a concept that was fully embraced by

Salemson and Bethea during their cross-examinations. Salemson

ccnceded that the younger individuals brought into the Press were
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'
w
te
it

th

Zne “new vision.” Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 54-58.

O

metnea conceded that it was his plan to hire “replacements” who
woi.d fit tnhe Press’ new vision, if he could only “jum([p]” the
:egya. nurdle(]” imposed by the ADEA. Id. at 138-39. Bethea
ccnceded nzaving said, at the time of the terminations, that the
Fress, In Lnhe past, had not “had the vision to be agile enough” and
Tnat the terminations of the charging parties would “improve that
azility.” Id. at 136. The Jjury did net “igncre the facts” in

finding for the Commission; it simply listened carefully tc UW's

wiowitlnesses,’t
Plainly, UW is dissatisfied with the jury verdicts. But “a
varzy appealing a jury verdict faces an uphill battle.” Haschmann

Time Warner Entertainment Co., 151 F.,3d 591, 599 (7" Cir. 1998).

Tne evidence 1s sufficient to support the jury verdicts.

* UW suggests that it is unreascnable to think that Bethea

nd Salemson acted out of an age bias because both “are older
narn those employees who were laid off.” UW Br. at 21-22. This
2rt nas made clear, however, that “the relative ages of the
rinating and terminated employee are relatively unimportant.”
v. MCI Systemhouse Corp., 255 F.3d 359, 361 (7" Cir. 2001)
ining that “it is altogether common and natural for older
tec “exempt themselves from what they believe to be the
ristic decline of energy and ability with age,” to “want
und themselves with younger people,” and “to be obliviocus
ne prejudices they hold, especially perhaps prejudices
nsT the group to which they belong”;.
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Tnere Is Sufficient Evidence To Support The Jury Verdicts
0f Willfulness

(@]

Cw argues that the Commission “did not present sufficient
evidernce to enable the jJury to find that [(UW’'s] actions were
‘willful’ within the meaning of the ADEA.” UW Br. at 31. This

argument tax<es up no more than a single page of UW's brief,

n

i
3l
(3
(O
n
(A
-
3

ing tnat UW does not take the argument seriously -- and for

o
LR 4

[1e]
)
O
$2
ty
(b
"
n

“nder tne ADEA, “courts are reguired to assess liguidated
gamages in the same amount as the compensatory damages if the
erplcyer’'s violation of the statute was ‘willful.’” Mathis v.

priilins Chevrolet, Inc., 269 F.3d 771, 777 (7% Cir. 2001). “A

viz.ation 1s considered ‘willful’ if ‘the employer knew or showed

recs.ess disregard for the matter of whether its conduct was

gronibited by the ADEA.'” Id. {quoting Hazen Paper Co., 507 U.S. at
5i4). ©Once a plaintiff demonstrates that the employer’s conduct
was wiliful, “"the plaintiff need not additionally show that the

erplcyee’s conduct was outrageous, or provide direct evidence of
the empleoyer’s motivation.” 269 F.3d at 777. The term “willful,”
as used in the ADEA, 1is “‘designed to shield the employer who
viciates the Act without knowing it,’ and whose ignorance is not

recxkless.” HWichmann, 180 F.3d at 804 (quoting Shager wv. Upjchn

()
(@]

913 F.2d 398, 406 (7" Cir. 1990)). This Court has described

LIy
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sucn Cases as “rare.” 180 F.3d at 804.

ir. this case, there is ample evidence of intentional age

n

discrimination. UW has “never raised any suggestion that, if it
4ld nave a discriminatory policy, the policy was justified because

ne age requirement was a bona fide occupational qualification or

[

fe.. under a statutory exception to the ADEA.” Mathis, 269 F.3d at

J
1
(&8}

Cn this record, the jury was “free to infer willfulness from

rt

ne circumstances of the case.” Id. at 777.

Indeed, there is specific evidence that Bethea, in particular,
xrowingly sought to circumvent the proscriptions of the ADEA.
Zetnea admitted that he wanted to replace the charging parties with
individuals who fit the new, more “agile” vision of the Press.
Betnea understood that, to do so, “legal hurdles” would have to be
""" Trial Tr. {May 8, 2001) at 139. Bethea conceded that
tnese “legal hurdles” included the ADEA. Id. Bethea was not
simp.y “aware of the existence of the ADEA.” UW Br. at 31. He was
contriving to end run it.

Liternatively, there is evidence that UW acted with “‘reckless

disregard for the matter of whether its conduct was prohibited by

rt

-

ADEA.’" Mathis, 269 F.3d at 777. Although Bethea knew enough

o]

about the ADEA to see it as a hurdle that had to be “jumped,”
reitner ne nor Salemson had any EEO training and neither man had

arny ldea wnhen the protection of the ADEA kicked in. See supra pp.
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-

Tnis 1is also true of the UW officials who reviewed the

poa
€

terminations. See supra pp. 18-19. The charging parties were the
fzur cldest individuals working in their respective departments.
Yec, Ann Marle Lamboley, the “campus layoff expert,” admitted that,
irn wezting tne proposed terminatiocns, she did not “conduct an
examiration o©f [the proposed terminations] to see 1if age
ination was involved.” Trial Tr. (May 8, 2001) at 155-56.
_Li<ewlse, Assoclate Dean Mareda R. Weiss admitted that she “never
investigated to see whether age discrimination was involved in this
case and ™"did not Xnow at the time . . . that the age of
prctection under the (ADEA] is 40.” Id. at 187. Dittc for Dean
Jirginia Hinsnaw, who was also involved in reviewing the proposed
terminaticns. See supra p. 19. As this Circuit has held, “leaving
maragers with niring authority in ignorance of the basic features

—~
O

Q!
VY
[{)]

discrimination laws is an ‘extraordinary mistake’ for an
rermgployer] to maxe, and a jury can find that such an extracrdinary
mistaxe amounts to reckless indifference.” Mathis, 269 F.3d at

'8; see also Price, 966 F.2d at 324 (jury was entitled to find

roloyer’s conduct was reckless where employer “had so far

et

3
&Y
et
('D

reglecred 1its responsibilities for compliance with the age
giscrimination law as to allow a supervisory employee to whom it
nad delegated the power to hire and fire to remain igncrant of cne

cf tne most basic features of the law -- namely the age at which
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wcrxers are protected by it”).

YW  contends that its decision-makers “did not know
specifically at what age the ADEA became effective but they
-ieved tnal 1t was inappropriate to consider any age in making a

?

cersonnel decision,” meaning their understanding of the ADEA “was

ive tnan the law itself.” UW Br. at 31. This is UW’s

8]
L]
M
£Y
-~
el
81}
23
n
b

spin cn the evidence, but the Jjury was entitled to reject it.

"

Lrther, thls argument misses the critical point. UW is no “mom

znd ¢ sncp.  Price, 966 F.3d at 324. It is a major university
T is routinely maxing personnel decisions. The terminations in
tnis Ccase toox place in 1999, some 32 years into the history of the
A0LA. Yet, UW had no procedures in place to ensure compliance with
the AZEA and carried out the terminations with little, if any,
regard for tne ADEA’s protections. At the wvery least, UW acted
with recxless indifference, thus supporting a finding of
willfulness.

. Tne District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In
Denying UW’s Motion For A New Trial

Alternatively, UW argues that “the district court erred in
genying (JW's] motion for a new trial.” UW Br. at 34. UW' s
argument, on tais point, is largely a reprise of its challenge to
tne sufficiency of the evidence. UW contends that the jury's

findings of age discrimination “are not supported by substantial
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evidence, direct or circumstantial, and the jury ceould not conclude
that ?Professcr David Bethea and Steve Salemson and the other
University personnel were guilty of willful age discrimination.”
3. at 35. UW exhorts that the jury verdicts “were the product of
speculation, lmpermissible guesswork and unfounded conjecture.”

iscussed above, there is sufficient evidence to sustain

9}
oY
n
.

tne jury verdicts. Just as UW is not entitled to judgment as a
matter of law on the Commission’s claims, it is not entitled to a

rew trial on the basis of supposed deficiencies in the Commission’s

JW also contends that a new trial is necessary “to effectuate
sucstantial justice” because the ‘“damage awards are clearly
oW Br. at 34. Contrary to UW’'s argument, the damage
awards do not “totally ignore undisputed and uncontradicted
evildence that the charging parties’ [sic] failed to mitigate their
Zarages as a matter of law.” Id. at 24-35. The charging parties
testified at length about their efforts to obtain alternative
emp.oyment. All eventually found jobs. See supra p. 20. Although
Uw faults the charging parties for not applying for openings at the
Press 1itself, id. at 33-34, the charging parties had credible

explanaticns for not having done so,? among them the fact that

* UW, for example, faults Robertson for not having applied

fcr several vacant positions at the Press. UW Br. at 33.
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naving Dbeen unceremoniously dumped from thelr positions at the

23]

ress because of supposed deficiencies in their relative skills and

(
e

Xce

ty

ience, tne charging parties had no reasonable expectaticn that

1
3
1]

Press was chemping at the bit te hire them back. Trial Tr.
(May 2, 2C0321) at 111-12 [testimony of Mary Braun] (testifying that
gsne ald net apply for openings at the Press because she had moved
©¢ Zreggen te accept another job and, having been fired from her job
the Press, was not “overly sanguine about (her] prospects of
e.rng rehired at the Press”). As the district court pointed out in
denying the moticen for new trial, there is "“no evidence that any of
.wne cnarging parties] were offered jobs [at UW] that they did not
azcect.” Bpop. 107, “"Failure to mitigate 1s an affirmative
defernse,” on which the employer “bears the burden of persuasicn.”
Sheernan, 173 F.3d at 1048-49. UW cannot plausibly argue that the
Sury was required, as a matter of law, tc find that UW had carried

its turden on this issue.

LAY

Fchbertson testified, however, that those positions were not “as
gococd” as the pesition from which she was terminated and were not
“as good” as the position she eventually secured. Trial Tr. (May
9, 2331) at 38. Robertson alsc testified that noc one from UW
ever called her “to offer [her] any of those jebs.” 1d.
Similariy, Evenson testified that he was not offered a job by UW

during tne period he was laid off and that he did in fact apply
for the “lv]ery few” positions available at UW that were

comparable in pay to his prior position. Id. at 72-75. Joan
Straskbaugn also testified that she did in fact apply for jobs at
U¥ tnat were in her salary range, Id. at 97-99,
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further, the issue here is not whether the jury, in the first
instance, should have accepted UW’s evidence on the failure to

mitigate defense. The issue is whether the district court erred in

nying JW's motion for a new trial on this issue, a ruling that is
¢t subject to review by this court, except upon exceptional

rcumstances  snowing a clear abuse of discretion.’” Century

Broadcasting, 957 F.2d at 1460. UW did not move for judgment as a
matter of law on the damages issue.'* It simply raised the point
in Its moticn for a new trial, DE 98 at 61-62. UW advances no

ccnerent  argument why this is the type of “exceptional

Y 42
wnstance

tnat would justify this Court in second-guessing the

)
{

disTrict court’s conclusion that a new trial was not required. See
fasnam, 230 F.3d at 1052 n.21 (faulting a party for “poorly”
formuiating the 1ssue by focusing on the validity of the jury
1ct as such rather than the district court’s denial of the
icn for new trial, which is subject to abuse of discretion

Finally, UW argues that a new trial is required because “the

U4, nonetheless, includes a portion of its mitigation
rgyurent under the heading, "“the district court should have
anted the defendant’s moticon for judgment as a matter of law.”
w Br. at 33-34. This appears to be an organizational mistake in
ne brief, since UW simply argues in that porticn of the brief
nat the supposedly excessive damage awards entitle UW to a new
lal. Id. at 34.

[ & e B ST S BT

L&
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Sury was in fact inappropriately guided and influenced by {the
Ccmmissiecn] counsel’s remark in closing argument, ‘[W]e wouldn’t be
nere unless the law had been viclated.’” UW Br. at 36. A party
“rnas a heavy burden when [it] seeks a new trial based on improper

remar<s during a clesing argument.” Dgoe v. Johnscn, 52 F.3d 1448,

{777 Cir. 13993). This Court has repeatedly explained that

]
o
(52
Ln

LRI T

improper comments during closing argument rarely rise to the

sevel of reversilble error.’”” Valbert v. Pass, 866 F.2d 237, 241

(777 Cir. 1983). “Tnis observation is particularly pertinent when
tnhe cormment 1s merely a brief and unrepeated part of a lengthy

gumenc.” Yalbert, 866 F.2d at 241. Additienally, “an

nect ev.dence can mitigate the harm potentially caused by improper
statements made by counsel during closing argument.” Id,.

In this case, the remark cited by UW was promptly cbiected to.
r. {May 8, 2031) at 218, The district court sustained the
eztlion, 1lnstructing the jury to “disregard that inappropriate
id. The Commission’s attorney apologized and moved on.
Thls entire exchange covers six lines of the transcript. Id. As
UwW concedes, the district court instructed the jury at the close of
evidence to disregard “matters which had been stricken and to put

tnose remarxs out of their mind.” UW Br. at 36 n.6. The district

It was in the best position to judge the prejudicial impact of
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tnis remarx. The court concluded that the trial was not “unfair”
©c Uw. App. 106. That conclusion is entitled to deference.

. Tne Award Of Travel And Deposition Costs Was Proper
Because The Five Witnesses Jdentified By UW Are Non-
Parties

~astly, UW contends that “the travel and deposition costs
reiated to the charging parties, as well as Dr. Tun, are not
a.lcwable and tne court abused its discretion when it awarded these
cocsts ($5,516.99) to the [Commission].” UW Br. at 37. UW is

ccrrect that the “general rule in the Seventh Circuit” is that a

district court may not “tax witness fees for party witnesses.” Id.

{(citing Haroco, Inc. v. American National Bank and Trust Co. of
Crizazs, 38 F.3d 1428 (70 Cir. 1994)). The problem with UW’s

gument is tnhat the five witnesses identified by UW are not

@]
vy
]
ot
]

D
wn
rt
0]
ct

nis action. This is the Commission’s lawsuit, filed in
1S Cwn o name, The four charging parties did not file their own
~aws2lts and did not intervene in the Commission’s action. Dr.
Tun, who testified briefly at the damages phase of the trial, is a

Commissicn employee, but that does not make him a “party” to this

case. 3See, e.g., Electronic Specgialty Co v. Int’]l Controls Corp.,

47 F.R.D. 158, 162 (S.D.N.Y. 1969) (witness fees of “directors and

- r
cfficers

of a named party can be taxed so long as the directors
and cfficers do not actually participate in the litigation “to the

extent that they become identifiable as a party in interest”).
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Altnzugh the pronibition against taxing the fees of party witnesses
“"nhas scmetimes been neld to extend to real parties in interest,” it
18 not encugn that the witnesses “had a significant legal interest

in tne outcome of the litigation, and that they testified to

it
1

matters directly affecting those interests.” Barber w. Ruth, 7

.3d 836, 646 (77 Cir. 1993). There must be evidence that the

r1)

witresses attended trial not “simply in order to testify” but “in
order to manage the litigation.” Id. This litigation was managed
cy tne Commlssion’s counsel, not the charging parties or Dr. Tun.

A5 tnls Court has recognized, “the question of whether a

witrness 1s a real party in interest, and therefore ineligible to

recelve witress fees, 1s ocone of degree.” I1d. There being no
“prignt line” rule, “broad discretion . . . must be afforded the
tria. (court] in maxing such determinations.” Id. The district

urt did not abuse its discreticn in awarding the travel and
depcsition costs of the four charging parties and Dr. Tun.
CONCLUSION

The judgment should be affirmed in all respects.
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Respectfully Submitted,

NICHOLAS M. INZEO
Acting Deputy General Counsel

PHILIP B. SKLOVER
Asscociate General Counsel
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ROBERT J. GREGORY
Senior Attorney
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1801 L Street, N.W.
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. CHARGE OF DISCRIMINATION

im, AGENCY IV,  CHARGE NUMBER

I
! |
© The< jorm s atiected by the Privacy Act of 1974; See Privacy Act Staternens FEPA '
| betore Compieting this form. - }
| Ly FEOC i
L i I

and EEOC

State or Local Agency, if any

NAME ilndicare Mr Ms | AMrs

HOME TELEPHONE (fnclude Area Code)

STREFT ADDRESS CITY, STATE AND ZIP CODE DATE OF BIRTH

CONAMED S THE EMPLOYER. LABOR ORGANIZATION, EMPLOYMENT AGENCY. APPRENTICESHIP COMMITTEE. STATE OR LOCAL GOVERNMENT
AGERCY WHO DISCRIMINATED AGAINST ME (1 more than one list below B

;’i YT T NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES, MTATRERS TLEPHONE tindicate Area Codes
TRIRIET ADDRI S CITY, STATE AND ZIP CODE COUNTY
NAME TLEPHONE NUMRBER (fmidicete Areie Codes -
STREET ADDRLSS CITY. STATE AND ZIP CODE COUNTY
i

RACF _. COLOR L_ SEX L. RFLIGION D NATIONAL ORIGIN

CALSE OF DiSCRINGSATION BASED ON /Check uppropriate basteir)

P r

. RETALIATION . AGE L DISABILITY L OTHER {Specify)

DATE DISCRIMNATION TOOK PLACE
EARLIEST LATEST

D CONTINUING ACTION

i THE PARTICU LARS ARE rff addiuonal paper is necded. attach extra sheetfs )

- Pwant:his vharge filed with buth the EEOC and the State or Loval
Agencroifany. Lwill advise the agencies of | change my address or
telephone number and [ will cooperate fully with them in the processing
of my charge 0 aceordance with their procedures.

NOTARY - (When necessary for State and Local Requirements)

I'swear or affimi that | have read the above charge and that it 1s true to the best of my knowledye, information
aod belref

bdeciare under penalts of periury that the foregotnyg 15 true and comect.

. Paw Charging Panty /Signature)

1
i

SIGNATURE OF COMPLAINANT

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORFE ME THIS DATE
{Day. month. and year)

ELOM FORNM S REV Yol
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U.S. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION

Chicago District Office 500 West Madison St., Svite 2800
Chicago, iL 60661

PH: (312)353-2713

TDD: (3123532421

ENFORCEMENT FAX: (312) §86-1168

LEGAL FAX: (312) 153-8555

October 23, 2001

RECEIVED

Paul Grossman

Paul, Hastings, Janofsky & Walker OCT ¢ ¥ 2001
555 S. Flower St., 23" floor PAUL, HASTINGS, JANOFSKY
Los Angeles, CA 90071 & WALKER LLP

Re:  Sidley & Austin Investigation, No. 210-A03557

Dear Mr. Grossman,

I'have taken over responsibility for the EEOC’s ongoing ADEA investigation of Sidley & Austin from
Karen Sheley (who is no longer working at the Agency) and have now reviewed your September 6, 2001
supplemental response as well as the previously submitted information in the file.

Despite numerous efforts by the EEOC to obtain full and complete responses to our April 10, 2001
Request for Information, your answers remain incomplete. During an investigation the Agency is
entitled to review materials relevant to the underlying statutory violation as well as materials relcvant to
junisdiction. This is particularly true in this case because many of the materials that bear on the merits of
an age discrimination termination claim are also relevant to the jurisdictional inquiry. The jurisdictional
and ments issues are intertwined and cannot be considered in isolation.

In the absence of complete responses from you, the EEOC is unable to analyze fully either the Agency’s
Junsdiction or whether there has been a statutory violation. Based on the record as it now stands,
however, the EECC believes that its exercise of jurisdiction over this case is entirely consistent with the
ADEA’s statutory mandate and existing case law. Thus, a subpoena is attached listing the additional
information that the EEOC requires in order to fulfill its congressionally mandated duty of investi gating
alleged violations of the ADEA.

I'look forward to receiving responsive materials within the next 30 days. If you have any questions
please call me at (312)353-7222.

Timothy Akbar
Investigator
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et UNI_:D STATES OF AME_ICA
EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION

SUBPOENA

TO: Paul Grossman NQ. CH-0217
Paul, Hastings, Janofsky & Waker
555 8. Flowers St., 23% floor
Los Angeies, CA 90071

IN THE MATTER OF: Sidley & Austin Investigation
Charge No 210A03557

Having faded to compty with previous request(s) made by or on behall of the undersigned Commission official, YOU ARE HEREBY REQUIRED
AND DIRECTED TO:

D Testify before: D Produce and bring *  or | X ' Mail * the documents described below to:

D Produce access o the evidence described below for the pumose of examinalion or copying to:

Timothy Akbar. Investigator of the Equal Employment Cpportunity Commission
at 500 W. Mad.son, Suile 2800, Chicago, IL. 63661 on November 23, 2001 at 8:30 a.m. o'clock

The evndence required is
See atlachec kst and definitions entitled “October 2001 Subpoena to Sidiey & Austin.”

This subpoena is issved pursuant to l___] {Tike VII) 42 U S €. 2000e-9 IADEA) 29 U S C. 626(a) l:] (EPA) 23 U.5.C 209
D (ADA}42 U5, 1211 Ha)

ISSUING OFFICIAL (Typed name, title and address) ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION

John P. Rowe. District Director

Equal Employment Ooportunity Commission

500 W. Madison St., Suite 2800

Chicago, IL 60661 J10]23(
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October 2001 Subpoena
to Sidley & Austin

INSTRUCTIONS AND DEFINITIONS

Documents: "Documents,” as used in this Subpoena, includes tangible objects and materials of
every kind and description including but not limited to all written, printed, typed, microfilmed
and recorded memoranda, transcribed communications, correspondence, pamphlets, books,
notes, digest, logs, diaries, calenders, computer printouts, time sheets, DayTimers, appointment
books, photographs, tape and other recordings, disks, drives and other tangiblc things upon
which mformation or data may be stored and/or any machine-readable data or electronic
information or data from which any of the foregoing may be generated or produced and all non-
identical copies of all of the foregoing.

Form of documents produced: Where some or all of the documents subpoenaed exist in
electronic form, please specify the form. Where a document exists in electronic form, produce
the document in one of the following forms in addition to hard copy:

- Fixed length or delimited text (* TXT)

. Lotus 1-2-3 (*. WKS, *WK1)

. Excel 3.0, 4.0, or 5.0 (* xls)

. Database tabies (*.DB, *.DBF)

. Quattro Pro for Windows (* WB1, * WB2, * WB3)
. Quattro Pro for DOS (*. WQl)

. Quattro (* WKQ)

. Excel 3.0, 4.0, 0r 5.0

Lists or Summaries: Lists or summaries of the data contained in documents covered by this
Subpoena must be supported by copies of documents upon which the lists or summaries arc
based.

Compilations: Certain paragraphs of this Subpoena require Respondent to create documents
which are compilations of information available to Respondent. The production of all documents
supporting, underlying, or related to such compilations are covered by and must be produced
pursuant to this Subpoena. However, Respondent may request of EEQC that Respondent be
permitted by EEOC to defer actual production of such supporting, underlying, and related
documents until requested by EEOC following production of the compilations. Whether to
permit any such deferred production, and for how long, shall be within the sole discretion of
EEQC.

No Documents: In the event that there are no documents responsive to any paragraph or
subparagraph of this Subpoena within the possession, custody, or control of Respondent, provide
a written representation, referring to the specific paragraphs or subparagraphs, certified by an
authonized representative of Respondent, so stating.

Page 1 of §
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Prior Production: In the event that you actually produced a particular document covered by this
October 2001 Subpoena in response to a prior EEQC Request, you are not required to produce
that document again. You are required to state the date upon which you previously produced any
such document and to provide sufficient information (e.g., Exhibit No., date, author, etc.) to
permit its ready identification by EEOC. Documents previously produced which are not
genuinely responsive to any request herein are not within this meaning of this instruction.

Identification of Documents: All documents produced in response to this Subpoena should be
marked or produced in such a fashion that the paragraph or subparagraph in response to which
they are produced is readily identifiable.

The Plan: For the purposes of this Request, the “Plan” refers to all demotions, terminations,
changes in status, and changes in the retirement policy which were decided upon, annournced, or
implemented or occurred at Respondent between January 1, 1999 and December 31, 1999
(referred to in this Subpoena as the “Period™), including but not limited to the “series of
measures” described at page 8 of Respondent’s own April 5, 2000 letter “To QOur Clients,
Alumni, Colleagues and Friends” as follows:

“In October, the Executive Committee adopted a series of
measures designed to improve the Firm's competitive position.
Press attention to those changes focus principally on the change in
our retirement policy {formerly age 65 and now a range of 60 to
65) and the related change in status of approximately 20 partners to
senior counsel. The press also noted that approximately 15 partners
changed to counsel status.”

The Partnership: As used in this Request, the “Partnership” refers to the so-called partnership
constituting the Respondent Sidley & Austin law firm (hereinafier referred to in this Subpoena as

“Sidley™).

Partners: As used in this Request, “Partners” refers to attorneys at Sidley deemed partners of
the firm under the Partnership Agreement and by their colleagues at Sidley.

“Partnership Agreement(s)” as referred to in this Subpoena are the partnership agreements of
Sidley as from time to time in effect. '

Committees: As used in this Subpoena the “Management Committee” and the “Executive
Committee” are the committees bearing those names which have been involved in the
govemance and operation of Sidley and any respective predecessors or successors thereof,

' The use of the terms “partner,” “partnership,” “partnership agreement,” and similar
terms in this Subpoena is exclusively for convenience, and such use should not be deemed to
suggest or imply, directly or indirectly, that Sidley or any part of Sidley is or has been a
partnership, or that Sidley is not an “employer” with respect to any person under the ADEA.
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DOCUMENTS REQUESTED

The documents to be produced in response to this Subpoena are all
documents which state, describe, constitute, discuss, memorialize, record,
demonstrate, show, compile, summarize or refer or relate in any way to any of
the following:

l. The process by which the Management Committee assigned, during the period
1990 to the present, the number of “units”, “percents”, and “guarantees” and the
amount of capital contribution (or withdrawal of capital} of cach Partner of Sidley
and the process by which the Management Committee determines the annual
compensation of each Partner of Sidley.

2. Who or what committee provides each practice group head with a schedule of
proposed billing rates for each and every Sidley Partner and how such schedule is
determined. (As described in Sidley’s June 1, 2001 Response to EEOC’s April
2001 Request for Information at p. 19.)

3. The Plan and al!l documents referring or relating to the Pian (including but not
limited to drafts of the Plan).

4, A compilation created by Respondent setting forth for each person who has been a
Partner of Sidley at any time duning the period from January 1, 1999 to the present, the
following:

Name.

Date of birth.

Date of hire.

Date of becoming a Partner.

Area of practice and practice group(s) of which a member.

Hourly billing rate and changes therein from January 1, 1997 to the

present.

Current title.

Agegregate number of hours and dolars billed to clients of Sidley

by year for the calendar years 1997, 1998, 1999, and 2000 through

December 31, 2000.

i Aggregate dollars collected by Sidley to date for the billings
described above in h, indicating the amount attributable to each
year’s billings.

] Practice group(s) within which the person served during the period
from January 1, 1995 to the present.

k. Date and reason for separation from Sidley (if applicable).

Mo a0 oe

= g

5. With respect to each person who has been a Partner of Sidley at any time during the
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peniod from January 1, 1999 to the present, completed (i.e.. “filled-in"") memoranda to
that Partner with respect to each year 1997-2000 inclusive of the type provided to EEQC
as Exhibit B to your counsel’s letter to EEOC dated September 12, 2000 ( which
discussed “overall approach,” annual “results,” annual “participations generaily,” “your
participation,” and “minimum balances and expense ratio").

6. A compilation created by Respondent setting forth with respect to each Partner of Sidley
whose status or compensation changed under the Plan or for any reason related to the
Plan, the following:

a. Name
: The reasons for the change in status,
c. The date the Partner was informed of the change in status and how
and by whom.
d. If the Partner did not “consent,” what happened to him or her.
7. The reasons that Sidley adopted the Plan, including all documentation reflecting why

particular individuals were chosen for a change of status under the Plan, including notes
from interviews by Management/Executive Committee members with each and every
Sidley partner regarding the need to implement the Plan and the persons selected for
inclusion.

8. All retirement ages or policies (whether formal or informal or what Sidley deems
“expectations” of a retirement age) which have been in effect or advised at Sidley from
January 1, 1970 to the present and the years each was in effect or advised and any
exceptions thereto.

9. A comptlation created by Respondent with respect to each Partner of Sidley who
retired or was retired because of the retirement age, expectation or policy in effect
at Sidley, or who retired coincident with the retirement age, expectation or policy
in effect at Sidley, or who retired at age sixty (60) or later during the period from
January 1, 1990 to the present, setting forth the following:

The name and last known address of the Partner.

The date of birth of the Partner.

The date of retirement of the Partner.

The gross aggregate amount of compensation received annually by
the Partrer from Sidley during the two full calendar years prior to
retirement and the gross aggregate amount of compensation
received by the Partner from Sidley during the last partial year
prior to retirement, if any. (Excluding any payments in the nature
of retirement benefits or any other payments not constituting
compensation.)

€. The gross aggregate amount of compensation, if any, received
annually by the Partner from Sidley since retirement to the present.

eoop
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{Excluding any payments in the nature of retirement benefits or
any other payments not constituting compensation. }
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